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Performance report 

 

Overview 
 
The performance report describes how NHS Northumberland Clinical Commissioning 
Group (hereafter referred to as the CCG), has performed during the year, including a 
description of the principal risks experienced and how they have been addressed.  It also 
outlines the development and performance of the CCG. 
  
The accounts have been prepared under a Direction issued by NHS England under the 
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 
 
On 8 April 2016 a report to the Secretary of State for Health under Section 30 of the Local 
Audit and Accountability Act 2014 was lodged for the breach of financial duties indicated in 
the notes of the accounts.  
 
Despite the CCG posting a deficit of £5.04m in 2015/16, reflecting a £5.3m deviation from 
the original plan, the accounts have been prepared on the basis that the CCG is a ‘going 
concern’.   Public sector bodies are assumed to be a going concern where the continuation 
of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by the inclusion of 
financial provision for that service in public documents.  The financial allocations for 
2016/17 have been approved by parliament and there is no reason to believe that future 
approvals will not be forthcoming. 
 
I certify that the CCG has complied with the statutory duties laid down in the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) except as disclosed. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
Dr Alistair Blair 
Chief Clinical Officer (Accountable Officer) 
25 May 2016    
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Our vision for services in the county  

 
Since its inception in 2013 the CCG’s vision has been to ‘ensure that the highest quality 
integrated care is provided, in the most efficient and sustainable way, by the most 
appropriate provider to meet the longer term needs of the people in Northumberland’.  We 
have three strategic objectives that support the achievement of our vision: 

 

 To assure the delivery of safety, quality and performance 

 To create joined up pathways across organisations to deliver seamless care 

 To deliver clinically led health services that are focussed on the patient and based 
on evidence  
 

Our definition and vision of whole system integration, is of patient-centred integrated care 
as described by the patients and service users themselves.  We are creating a culture of 
integration around these people rather than the organisation or system.  We believe that 
the most crucial aspect of integrated care is how care is better coordinated by providers 
around people’s needs, and how professional groups work together in teams to ensure 
that this is delivered successfully.  
 
While we have experienced some financial pressures, we have remained totally committed 
to delivery of our initial vision and strategic objectives.  Throughout 2015/16 we have 
ensured that our services continue to be integrated and, importantly, wrapped around the 
patient and designed to deliver the best possible outcomes.   We have monitored the 
progress against our objectives through our commissioning plan, configured around the six 
clinical domains that cover our commissioned services outlined below: 
 

 
 
The CCG already had a strong track record of integrated working and we have continued 
to work closely alongside key stakeholders from health and social care in 2015/16 to 
deliver system-wide improvements for the people of Northumberland.  At the same time 
we have worked on a vision of ‘Unlocking integrated care in Northumberland’; an exciting 
initiative that will further enhance the delivery of health and care services in the county.  In 
March 2015 the CCG was selected as one of only nine sites nationally to be a ‘Vanguard’ 
site, to deliver a ‘Primary and Acute Care System’ under the umbrella of the first 
‘Accountable Care Organisation’ in the country. Our work in this area will build on 
successful work over many years by taking our vision of integration further.  We are 
working to break down barriers between different areas of health and care to create a 
streamlined experience and avoid confusion and duplication.  We also aim to reduce 

Throughout the year, we have monitored progress in each 

clinical domain through a number of mechanisms, including:  

 Bi-monthly meetings between clinical directors and the 
chief officers of the CCG, to discuss overall progress, 
resolve barriers to progress and identify new priorities.  

 Six monthly formal reporting of progress to the Joint 
Localities Executive Board of the CCG.  

 A six monthly presentation of the headline 
achievements, to the Members Meeting of the CCG.  

 An annual presentation of each clinical domain, to the 
Resources and Performance Committee of the CCG’s 
Governing Body.  
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variation in health outcomes by linking public health, social and healthcare more closely in 
a drive to help local people have more confidence to better manage their own health and 
more appropriately access healthcare services when they need to.  The ‘system’ will 
deliver the clinical benefits while the ‘organisation’ will help ensure that the partners are a 
cohesive team that concentrates on continually improving the overall health and wellbeing 
of Northumberland people.   
 
Our current plans and future vision are aligned with the Health and Wellbeing Board 
strategic priorities, the board approved our commissioning plan at the start of 2015/16 and 
receive regular reports on our progress.  We have worked closely with local people, the 
Health and Wellbeing Board, Healthwatch Northumberland and the voluntary sector to 
ensure that all key partners are aware of our progress and fully involved in co-designing 
future health and care services in the county.   
 
Primary care, the bedrock of our services in Northumberland, continued to put in a strong 
performance throughout 2015/16 despite recruiting difficulties in some parts of the county.  
Together with the Local Medical Committee we have produced a primary care strategy for 
2016-2020 which looks at the challenges ahead and outlines the future vision ‘That 
clinicians will be working in practices they are proud of, delivering care to patients in wider 
truly integrated teams’.  The strategy discusses initiatives to improve provision in a number 
of key areas and has been designed under the overarching principle of delivering safe and 
effective health services which patients value and trust.  We commissioned primary care 
jointly with NHS England throughout the year.  Co-commissioning is one of a series of 
changes set out in the NHS Five Year Forward View, as a key driver in developing 
seamless, integrated out-of-hospital services centred on the needs of the local population. 
We became fully delegated primary care commissioners in 2016, a move which will further 
remove duplication and foster even closer working relationships between the CCG and its 
member practices.  During 2015/16, the Care Quality Commission assessed 18 practices 
with 4 rated outstanding, 11 good, 2 inadequate and 1 requiring improvement.  The CCG 
has worked with the inadequate practices to develop and implement the required action 
plans.     
 

Improving quality  
 
Quality sits at the heart of our everyday business.  In 2015/16 we appointed a full time 
Director of Quality and Patient Safety to further support our work to ensure the health 
services we commissioned for people in Northumberland are safe and effective.  We 
continued to develop our internal monitoring and assurance systems, including 
introduction of a ‘quality dashboard’ to allow prompt and responsive action when 
necessary.  We worked with hospitals and other healthcare providers to make sure 
lessons learnt from incidents are used to improve patient services.  Working with our 
general practices, we have further strengthened our support in primary care to safeguard 
their vulnerable patients.  We have continued to listen to our communities in 
Northumberland, and have subsequently delivered services designed to best meet their 
health and care needs.   
 
Each of the clinical domains has achieved significant progress during 2015/16, as 
summarised in the following sections. 
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Unplanned care  
 
It has been a challenging year in this area for the CCG.  While our plans focussed on 
reducing inappropriate demand in hospital settings by increasing primary care and 
community services, almost unprecedented demands have been experienced across the 
Northumberland health economy in the emergency departments.  We have however 
started to extend the access to primary care that will help alleviate that pressure using a 
variety of models including individual practices, groupings with neighbouring practices and 
working with other providers such as acute hospitals and community services.  We have 
enhanced access for vulnerable and complex patients to avoid admissions to hospital 
settings; and better managed same day primary urgent care demand through introducing 
new ways of working with community nursing services and releasing time for complex and 
vulnerable patients. 
 
Our system resilience group in Northumberland brings together the main providers and 
commissioners of urgent care.  The group plans not only for surges in demand over winter, 
but also throughout the year and attempts to ensure we make the most of the urgent care 
resources we have, monitoring performance and making changes where needed.  As an 
example, we provided additional GP support during the Christmas and Easter periods and 
worked with North Tyneside CCG to put in place a local advertising campaign to help 
patients use services appropriately over the holiday periods.     
  
The opening of the new Northumberland Specialist Emergency Care Hospital in June 
2015, the benefits of which are described in greater detail below, is transforming the health 
landscape in Northumberland.  The clinical benefits of the new models of care are clear 
and the new hospital has proved a great success for many patients.  However, such a 
seismic change in health provision has highlighted a number of unintended consequences 
that could not have reasonably been anticipated and have affected provider performance 
throughout the year.  Public perception that the new hospital is the place to go for almost 
everything has been very hard to counter, leading to higher than planned walk-in activity.  
This had a direct impact on both the CCG’s financial performance and the operational 
performance of the North East Ambulance Service, which experienced turnaround 
difficulties.  Throughout the year the operational performance has been closely monitored 
and all partners have worked together on a range of initiatives designed to improve patient 
experience at the hospital.    
 

Planned care 
 
Our plans have been premised on providing integrated community focussed care 
pathways, reducing variation in practice and securing excellence across all elective 
activity.  Managing the pressures on hospital services, created through a growing and 
ageing population remained a priority throughout the year. We have continued to improve 
the quality of referrals made into secondary care and best managed demand for all 
planned care services through a general practice activity scheme that champions peer 
review of referrals in primary care, so that patients are seen by the right professional in a 
timely way.  This scheme has been in operation for three years and has not only helped 
mitigate the impact of demographic growth on elective activity, but actually reduced the 
number of secondary care referrals overall since the CCG’s inception.   We have also 
continued to ensure that low clinical value procedures are not routinely referred, or 
provided in a hospital setting if they do not need to be and further developed community 
services to deliver care out of a hospital setting and closer to home.  The Value Based 
Commissioning policy which has been enacted to deliver this has been enhanced in 
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2015/16 to cover 39 procedures.  Providers can only treat patients for conditions in the 
policy if the referral is accompanied by a funding request approved by a GP.  All our 
schemes are premised upon the principle that quality, safety and patient experience are 
paramount and in turn, drive efficiency.    
 

Long term conditions 
 
Our plans have once again focussed on further joining up patient care, not just in health 
but also social care.  We have continued to build on our partnership with the local authority 
for continuing healthcare services, to further develop our integrated commissioning and 
achieve excellent quality care and patient experience, including a greatly enhanced 
personalisation of care delivered. We have delivered a coordinated programme to increase 
medical, nursing and community support in care and residential homes designed to reduce 
hospital admissions for people in these settings. We have also bettered the outcomes for 
people admitted to our community hospitals by developing seven day working across 
health and social care, an increased focus on rehabilitation and re-ablement and a 
particular focus on working out from hospitals into people’s homes and the community, 
under the banner of ‘care without walls’.  
  
Improvements have also been made to the quality of long term condition management in 
the community through our clinically led, multi-disciplinary condition specific groups and 
we have focussed on dementia, respiratory conditions, alcohol, cardio vascular disease 
and diabetes.  We have worked hard in particular to increase our dementia diagnosis rate 
through our well-established multi-disciplinary dementia steering group.  We recognise that 
this is an important area of work in Northumberland and have launched a county-wide 
dementia awareness campaign designed to promote sources of advice and support in the 
county. 
 
Our partnership agreements with the local authority continue to deliver excellent outcomes 
for patients across health and social care.  We have continued to perform well in delivering 
a high number of Personal Health Budgets.  The budgets empower patients to have more 
direct control over their own care and are consequently universally popular with those who 
have them.  Recently published national data shows that Northumberland has the highest 
level of personal health budgets in the North East and one of the highest in the country.  
We have also undertaken extensive work to clear an inherited backlog of outstanding 
continuing healthcare restitution claims, identified before the CCG came into existence in 
2013.  Work continues in this area and we have systems in place to clear the backlog by 
the nationally determined deadline of March 2017.         
 
The Better Care Fund (BCF) was announced by the Government in June 2013 to enable a 
transformation in integrated health and social care. It does not involve new funding, but 
introduces a requirement that at least £3.8bn of existing NHS and local authority funding 
must be included in a pooled budget in each local area. Northumberland has a BCF 
pooled budget of £24.5 million for 2015/16.  £4.05 million of this budget is linked to savings 
in acute hospital care. 
 
The BCF programme relies on the operational input of all health and care agencies in the 
county.  A steering group meets monthly and is tasked with ensuring the actions required 
to deliver the better care fund ambitions are completed in a timely way.  In 2015/16 the 
main focus of the steering group has centred on improving the quality of care for patients 
within care homes by providing a system wide approach to avoiding unnecessary hospital 
non-elective admissions. 
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Key successes of the BCF cares homes group are: 
 

 Care home medication reviews 

 Care home staff flu vaccinations 

 Intra-muscular antibiotic pathway 

 Consistent use of emergency healthcare plans 

 Hydration week educational campaign 

 GP alignment to care homes 

 Increased use of community geriatrician and locality education meetings 

 Care home forum use by health and social care 

 Development and support of ‘This is me’ for dementia patients 

     

Mental health and learning disabilities 
 
We have always advocated ‘parity of esteem’ such that mental health and physical health 
are treated with equal importance and firmly believe that all of the services we provide 
must meet the needs of people with learning disabilities.  Our plans have remained 
specifically designed to achieve this ambition.  Together with our partners we are 
committed to ensuring that people across all ages with learning disabilities receive safe, 
appropriate and high quality care.  In September 2015 we re-procured our psychological 
therapies service; our contract performance indicators exceed the nationally mandated 
targets and the service focusses on recovery and employability. 
 
Based on a detailed analysis of services and working very closely with the local authority, 
we have delivered fully effective management of Section 117 learning disability 
placements.  We developed a local policy (between health and social care) that delivered 
a more seamless system of joint commissioning under Section 117 for all patients with a 
learning disability.  This has led to improved patient outcomes and efficiencies in excess of 
£1 million, which will be used to further improve mental health and learning disability care 
provision.   
 
We are part of a national fast-track programme designed to transform support for people 
with learning disabilities and/or autism over the next three to five years and have received 
national funding to support the implementation of our plan to invest in community services, 
crisis support and ‘step up’ services.  With the patient at the centre, non-segregated 
services will be commissioned to support people in their own community and prevent 
problems arising in the first place.  Waiting times will be reduced and bed based provision 
will be replaced by community based mind services. 
 
Working with the Health and Wellbeing Board and our partners we have also produced a 
children’s emotional health and wellbeing strategy designed to foster early intervention and 
prevent escalation of issues.   
 

End of life care, cancer and carers 
 
Our work continues to focus on meeting people’s end of life care preferences, supporting 
the health and wellbeing of carers and improving the health outcomes associated with 
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cancers.  In 2015/16 we have rolled out Care for the Dying pathway documentation and 
have focussed on reducing the number of people who die in hospital and to giving every 
opportunity to people to have their final personal wishes met.  We are committed to using 
clinical evidence to define our priorities and have used this evidence to continue to shape 
our plan to focus to prevent, diagnose and treat the most prevalent cancers in the county.  
 
In 2013/14 we targeted bowel cancer screening uptake rates with marked success.  This 
year, working alongside co-opted assistance from the Macmillan Cancer Support, we have 
championed a ‘pink letter’ scheme designed to increase cervical screening uptake rates.  
The ‘pink letter’ sent to encourage non-respondents to participate has increased the 
uptake by 17%.  The letter has also been followed up by a telephone call from practice 
nurses to further explain the importance of screening.  This has resulted in a further uptake 
increase to 23%. People with learning disabilities have also been targeted with the 
production of an easy to read letter and a video ‘Josephine goes for her smear test’. 
The carer’s perspective remains a key element of our commissioning decisions and we 
continue to work very closely with Carers Northumberland, involving the organisation in the 
design process and all patient engagement events. 
      

Prescribing 
 
We continue to work towards realising the vision of medicines optimisation for the 
CCG.  The CCG has continued to outperform CCGs regionally on prescribing cost and 
management of cost growth.  The Northumberland medicines optimisation group has 
focused on ensuring the right patients get the right choice of medicine at the right time.  To 
enable this, the group has worked in partnership with Northumbria Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust (NHCFT), the mental health trust Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS 
Foundation Trust (NTW) and the Local Pharmaceutical Committee. 
 
The Practice Medicines Management service delivered by primary care is one of the key 
mechanisms which the Medicines Optimisation Group has used to ensure our patients 
receive high quality, cost effective prescribing.  This scheme has quality and cost initiatives 
which practices have successfully delivered.  This includes work on antibiotic stewardship 
as part of the quality work to reduce antimicrobial prescribing, meeting the nationally 
mandated quality premium target.   The service has delivered 73% of the required cost 
savings in year. 
 
Following a successful trial, a care home medication review service has been introduced 
across Northumberland.  This follows on from a NHCFT led project and national best 
practice for pharmacist led medication reviews.  This is a service which capitalises on the 
specialist skills of a pharmacist to complete medication reviews using shared decision 
making with our patients and their carers.  This is complemented by a pharmacy 
technician who supports care homes to order and manage their medicines.  This service 
will deliver 1000 reviews per year. 
 
A service to complete medication reviews for High Risk Patients has been strengthened to 
ensure more of our patients at high risk of emergency admissions receive medication 
reviews.  The use of medication reviews for this vulnerable group of patients is evidence 
based in terms of improving patient outcomes, addressing quality issues and reducing 
prescribing cost. 
 
Community pharmacies play an important role in medicines optimisation.  The CCG has 
improved integration through the use of an electronic Medicines Use Review (MUR) 
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referral system.  This allows primary care clinicians to refer patients in need of an MUR to 
a community pharmacy.  This has increased the effectiveness of MURs by targeting 
appropriate patients. 
 

Public health and prevention 
 
Our plans have focussed on improving people’s ability to make better lifestyle choices, 
both the people of Northumberland and the NHS’s own employees.  We have been able to 
drive forward the agenda in this area in 2015/16 with the appointment of a Director of 
Public Health and public health consultants who have worked extensively with the CCG 
during the year.  We have introduced a number of initiatives to promote wellbeing and 
reduce the impact of ill health on those people living in residential and nursing homes and 
have supported the ongoing development of knowledge and skills for care home staff.  We 
have also included health gain priorities in the delivery of all of our services.  For example, 
the Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) guidelines and associated pulmonary 
rehabilitation services prioritise stop smoking programmes.  We have also included patient 
reported outcome measures (a measure of health gain before and after intervention) in all 
our major services where appropriate.     
   
We recognise that health and care employees in Northumberland are also usually 
Northumberland residents with families and lives outside of work.  By extensive promotion 
of public health campaigns, we have encouraged our employees to make healthy lifestyle 
choices and believe we have consequently made a positive impact on their families and 
communities.    
         

Working with partners  
 
We have worked closely with the Health and Wellbeing Board throughout 2015/16.  Our 
commissioning plan for services seeks to ensure that no community is left behind or 
disadvantaged, focusses on health inequalities and improves outcomes for patients.  Our 
plan is entirely cognisant of the Health and Wellbeing Board’s vision, ‘to create a culture 
that allows the aspirations of residents and communities to be fulfilled by improving how 
health and social care and other public services work in a joined up way’, and we continue 
to work closely with local people, the Health and Wellbeing Board, our partners and the 
voluntary sector to implement the strategy that supports the board’s vision, namely: 
 

 Targeting children and families who might be at risk of not achieving their full 
potential 

 Focussing on tackling some of the main causes of health problems in the county 

 Supporting people with long term conditions to be independent and have control of 
their treatment 

 Making sure that all public services support the independence and social inclusion 
of disabled people and people with long term conditions 

 Making sure that all partners work well together and are clear about what they 
themselves need to do to help improve the health and wellbeing of local people   

 
A true partnership is one where all partners adopt a fully collaborative approach and 
operate in an environment of mutual trust.  We believe we have helped create such an 
environment in Northumberland and that we have worked constructively alongside our 
partners to deliver real benefits to local people.  Each year a national 360 degree 
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stakeholder’s survey is completed to provide an analysis of the CCG’s key partners.  
Some of the highlights of the 2015/16 survey are below: 
 

 79% of stakeholders felt engaged with the CCG 

 84% of stakeholders felt at ease raising concerns to the CCG about the quality of 
local services 

 74% of stakeholders felt that the CCG had effectively communicated its plans and 
priorities 

 77% of stakeholders felt that they had a good working relationship with the CCG 

 

The Northumberland Vanguard 

 
As well as delivering our commissioning plan’s clinical domain work this year, we have 
worked extensively on the Vanguard Primary and Acute Care System (PACS) vision.  The 
problems we are trying to solve in this area are: 
 

 A reliance on emergency care services for routine and minor levels of care 

 An increasingly elderly, frail population with multiple complex needs requiring a 
different approach to care in the community 

 A need for a sustainable type of future care which operates for seven days a week 

 
Fully integrated care combines different parts of the health and care system so that they 
work together to form a whole.  This means health and social care professionals working 
seamlessly as one team with a joint health record and a coordinated plan for each patient.  
Patients see the professional who can most meet their needs at any one time, in effect one 
single team regardless of the organisation for which that person works.   Working with our 
health and care partners across Northumberland, while work remains to be done, a great 
deal of early progress has already been achieved.  The work is being undertaken in the 
following phases: 
 

 Phase 1 – Transforming urgent and emergency care through the opening of the 
Northumbria Specialist Emergency Care Hospital in June 2015 and redesigning the 
provision provided by Northumberland’s existing general hospitals.  At the new 
hospital, emergency medicine consultants work 24/7 and speciality consultants 
work seven days a week from 8am to 8pm.  This provides faster diagnosis leading 
to earlier treatment, improved outcomes and reduced admission rates, meaning 
less time in hospital for patients.  To complement this we have introduced three 
primary care hubs in the local district general hospitals where co-location with 
hospital diagnostics should offer additional benefits.  The hubs are staffed by a mix 
of hospital doctors, GPs and emergency nurse practitioners and offer extended 
primary care across a seven day period.  The overall clinical model is already 
working well however, despite an extensive publicity campaign, patients are using 
inappropriate services at times and work remains to be done in 2016/17 to improve 
the general understanding of the overall health and care system in Northumberland.   

 Phase 2 – Transforming primary care through exploring seven day a week access 
that is responsive to the needs of the people of Northumberland.  The aim is to 
develop a number of initiatives across the four localities of Northumberland that 
seek to provide same day primary care access for those patients who need it.  In 
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February and March 2016 a large scale engagement programme took place in an 
effort to understand what local people want in terms of access time and the services 
required from primary care.  Nearly 3000 people took part in a survey and hundreds 
more were given the opportunity to comment in a wide-ranging face to face 
engagement programme. Healthcare professionals were also extensively consulted 
and the results will usefully inform further developmental work in this area in 
2016/17. In addition nearly all CCG member practices took part in a ‘capacity and 
demand’ study designed to highlight local demand and match this with available 
resource. The CCG will work with member practices in 2016/17 in an attempt to 
better improve access to primary care for Northumberland patients.  

 Phase 3 – Transforming community based care through the introduction of 
integrated complex care teams.  The development of multidisciplinary complex care 
teams based in the community will take expertise from primary, secondary and 
social care and use it productively to prevent hospital admission where possible.  
The team will provide proactive assessment, management and care planning, to 
care home and high risk patients, together with intensive community treatment for 
those who would otherwise be in hospital.  The development of a workforce that 
ensures sufficient capacity both in our primary care and community teams has 
already started and will be consolidated in 2016/17. 

 Phase 4 – Creating an Accountable Care Organisation as a vehicle through which 
we deliver the PACS.  This will seek to ensure that all partners along the health and 
wellbeing pathway of Northumberland residents are united in their effort to provide 
the seamless services that improve patient outcomes. 

 
The above plans are underpinned by the need to establish a single patient record across 
the health and care system.  In 2015/16 we took the first steps in achieving this with the 
introduction of a Medical Inter-Operability Gateway or MIG system.  For the first time in 
Northumberland, with a patient’s consent and using the MIG, secondary care professionals 
(for example a consultant working in A&E) can access a patient’s primary care record and 
view the relevant detail that may aid faster diagnosis and treatment leading to shorter 
stays in hospital and improved outcomes.    
 
We have worked closely with local people, member practices, our Vanguard partners, 
Northumberland Healthwatch and the voluntary sector to develop our plans.  We have 
listened to what has been said and firmly believe that only by truly co-designing the future 
of the health and care system in Northumberland, will we ensure that patient needs and 
wishes are met in the years to come. 
 

Summary 
 
We have achieved a great deal in 2015/16.  Our member GPs have worked tirelessly in 
sometimes difficult circumstances to remain accessible and have introduced innovative 
ways of working to achieve this.  The clinical domain teams have also worked extremely 
hard to deliver improved outcomes for patients while ensuring our services are sustainable 
in the years to come.  We have also taken the first steps to realise our ambition of further 
joining up already highly integrated health and care services in Northumberland and the 
future looks exciting in this respect. 
 
We started 2015/16 fully expecting to achieve a three year ambition of achieving financial 
balance at the end of the year.  We have however experienced a difficult year financially 
and ended 2015/16 with a £5.04m deficit.  Despite close monitoring and regular reporting 
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throughout the year we experienced significant financial pressure in the latter stages of 
2015/16 due to over performance within the acute provider contract.  We were unable to 
mitigate this over performance so late in the year and therefore, despite our best efforts to 
both monitor and constrain cost growth throughout the year, we were unable to avoid 
posting a deficit at year end.   While we have been given significant assurance by our 
internal auditors that our internal controls were fit for purpose in 2015/16, we fully 
recognise that we will need to take a strong approach to our financial recovery in 2016/17.  
We have already started detailed work in this area, including securing additional 
management resource and ensuring that our contracts with our main providers are 
designed to best mitigate a reoccurrence of the issues we experienced last year.  
 
While the end of year position is disappointing and we will need to work hard to regain the 
lost financial ground in 2015/16, it will not deter us from further improving the health and 
care experiences of the people of Northumberland. We have already taken firm steps to 
ensure that, with patient experience and safety always at the forefront of our minds, we 
work together with our partners to ensure that we deliver improved care for patients 
alongside a healthcare model that is financially sustainable.  We have clear plans to 
effectively manage increasing demand and the associated budgetary implications.  Our 
recovery plan will seek to transform some services such that they are efficiently and 
effectively utilised.  By doing so we believe we will both improve patient experience and 
achieve financial balance.  Further detail is contained in the Financial Performance section 
at page 29.  
 
Overall however we have built the firm foundations of an enhanced and sustainable health 
and care system in 2015/16.  Working with the people of Northumberland and our 
partners, in delivering an already integrated commissioning plan for 2015/16 and starting 
work on the further improvements that will be delivered by PACS, we still believe we are 
designing a greatly improved healthcare system for the county that can be replicated 
nationally.      
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Performance Analysis 

 
The CCG has an ongoing performance review process that manages the NHS 
constitutional targets along with other key metrics and ensures that Northumberland 
patients are able to access a wide range of quality led health services, delivered to safe 
and recognised standards within a timely period.  
 
Members of the CCG’s Joint Locality Executive Board (JLEB) consider performance 
update reports on a monthly basis. The reports summarise the performance of the CCG 
against the key constitutional indicators. Where there are areas of underperformance or 
performance concern, the reasons are outlined along with the requisite actions. Provider 
performance is also included, together with appropriate actions being taken in response to 
highlighted issues.  The report, together with JLEB comments and actions is also 
presented to the Governing Body’s Resources and Performance Committee. 
 
The CCG provides assurance on a regular basis to NHS England and formal quarterly 
review sessions are held between the two organisations.  Outside of the normal review 
timescales the CCG also highlights emerging issues and the immediate actions being 
taken in response to NHS England, when deemed necessary. 
 
Monthly performance reports are also presented to the Systems Resilience Group (SRG), 
concerning accident and emergency and out of hours’ provision, including primary care 
and the ambulance service. The CCG, through the SRG, provides assurance to NHS 
England that there is sufficient system capacity throughout periods of anticipated surges in 
demand. 
 
The following indicators are routinely monitored and reported: 
 
 

Ambulance Cat A 

 

 
 
 

         Key: Achieved or exceeded target         Underachieved <3%        Underachieved >3%    
 

*A&E waits - currently awaiting confirmation from NHS England 
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Patient access to services 

 
18 weeks referral to treatment 
 
The CCG’s performance has been strong across the range of 18 weeks referral to 
treatment specialties and has consistently achieved the 92% constitutional target for the 
incomplete (waiting list) indicator as shown by table 1 below.  
 
Table 1 – Incomplete 18 weeks pathway performance 

 

 
 
At specialty level, performance in year has improved. The only area of under-performance 
related to the trauma and orthopaedic specialty, largely due to staff recruitment and 
retention issues.  
 
Table 2 - Comparative incomplete 18 weeks pathway 

 

 
 

As shown in table 2 above performance has generally improved in 2015/16 compared to 
2014/15.  
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Diagnostic services 
 
The NHS constitutional standard states that no more than 1% of patients should receive 
their diagnostic test later than six weeks after a GP referral. As shown in table 3 below, 
this standard was achieved throughout the majority of 2015/16. During the months of July 
and August the high proportion of breaches were due to capacity and staffing issues at 
Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (NHCFT). These issues have now been 
resolved and the provider has introduced processes that reduce the risk of future 
breaches. 
 
Table 3 - Diagnostic waiting times 

 

 
 

 
 
Mixed sex accommodation breaches 
 
Throughout the year there were no mixed sex accommodation breaches experienced by 
Northumberland residents or in any of the local providers’ hospitals from which the CCG 
commissions services.  
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Cancer 
 
During 2015/16, the CCG has met the wide range of cancer targets with the exception of 
the two week wait breast symptomatic cancer 93% target which was 92.5%. This is the 
first time that the CCG has failed a cancer performance target since its inception in 2013. 
To place this in context however a further six patients being seen within two weeks in 
2015/16 would have ensured target achievement and 1005 patients have been seen within 
target this year.  
 
Table 4 – Cancer performance 2015/16 

 

 
 

Particular focus has been on improving access to services to enable more patients to be 
seen within two weeks of referral by a GP. Throughout 2015/16 the CCG worked 
collaboratively with NHCFT to gain a better understanding of the reasons for the breaches. 
Information on breaches at GP Practice level was shared across the CCG. The GP referral 
process was reviewed and a more consistent approach, which makes greater use of the 
electronic e-referral system, has been introduced. The pathway for the post-operative 
follow up for breast cancer patients has also been improved.   
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Mental Health Services 
 
In September 2015 the main provider of the Improving Access to Psychological Therapies 

(IAPT) services changed. During the period of transition a high volume of patients 
encountered delays in treatment. This affected the numbers who completed treatment in 
2015/16 and who subsequently are moving into recovery. Due to collaborative working 
between the CCG and the new provider and additional funding released by NHS England, 
the backlog inherited during the transition of providers reduced considerably. The previous 
target achievement was regained early in 2016 and is expected to further improve in 
2016/17.   The annual performance however averaged 51.0% - based upon the end of 
year provisional data.  
 
Table 5 - IAPT performance 
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Accident and Emergency wait times 
 
In previous years local providers delivered some of the strongest performance nationally to 
ensure that patients were either treated or admitted to a ward within a maximum of four 
hours when they attended an accident and emergency department. 2015/16 performance 
has however, fallen below the required performance standard.  The CCG continues to 
work with the providers to return performance to its previously high levels.  It is of note that 
the performance levels, whilst deteriorating in Northumberland, continue to be better than 
the national average.  
 
Table 6 - Accident and emergency performance 2015/16 

 
 

  
 
 
NHCFT’s performance also deteriorated significantly during the winter months. 
Performance over the year averaged 95% and achieved the overall NHS Constitution 
standard, but high numbers of ambulance handover delays have adversely impacted upon 
ambulance performance both locally and across the North East. 
 
The CCG is working closely with NHCFT on a range of actions which are in place to 
improve future performance including the following: 
 

 Northumbria Specialist Emergency Care Hospital (NSECH) front of house -  
Including senior triage, flow management and GP triage and redirection (where 
clinically appropriate) to base site walk-in facilities 

 Throughput – Hospital to home and short term support services stepped up to 
increase discharge and throughput.  There is now also increased weekend working 
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in the community, reviews of long stay patients and daily validated capacity in 
nursing and residential homes 

 Communications – Radio, social media, GP updates, banners and A&E screens 
showing waiting times  

 Ambulance conveyancing – Staggering arrivals at NSECH for GP urgent and 
discharge ambulances 

 Base site development – Including palliative care pathway reviews and extending 
elderly assessment operating procedures from Hexham and Wansbeck 

 IT interoperability – To support patient care the CCG, in conjunction with NHCFT, is 
currently deploying an IT solution which will, subject to patient consent at the point 
of care, enable A&E clinicians to view a live record of the patient record. Although 
the amount of information is limited it can speed up diagnosis and improve the 
safety of patient care 

 
Given that NSECH has been open since June 2015, as part of the routine commissioning 
cycle, there are also plans to conduct a review to ensure that NSECH and the base sites are 
fully utilising available resource and are operating efficiently and effectively. 
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Ambulance response times 
 
Table 7 below shows that the local eight minute response time target of 73% and the 19 
minute response time target of 95% were not met for the majority of 2015/16 by the North 
East Ambulance Service (NEAS), either in Northumberland or the wider North East.  
 
Table 7 - Ambulance 8 minutes response time performance 2015/16 

 

 
 

Table 8 – Ambulance 19 minutes response time performance 2015/16 

 

 
 
Within Northumberland the annual average performance for the eight minute response 
time target was 65.6%, against a local 73% target. Against the 19 minute response time 
95% target, the average annual performance year to date was 86.0%. NEAS’s North East 
annual average performance also indicates under performance against NHS constitutional 
standards. The eight minute and 19 minute response time performance were 68.6% and 
92.2% respectively. 
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Table 9 – Comparative ambulance performance 2013-2016 

 

 
 

Table 9 above shows the year on year deterioration of ambulance performance across 
Northumberland despite a range of ongoing actions to mitigate issues in this area. NEAS 
performance remains under scrutiny at both local and regional levels by lead 
commissioners and the Quality Review Group.   
 
The underperformance in previous years has been partially attributable to a high number 
of staff vacancies and absence levels.  These issues continue but are currently being 
mitigated and addressed.  
 
The additional pressures experienced in 2015/16 have been partially affected by factors 
outside of NEAS’s direct control.  There has been a significant increase in the number of 
ambulance handover delays experienced across the North East, with the highest levels 
being recorded within Northumberland at NSECH. This means there are often ambulances 
waiting to hand over patients to hospitals – and therefore not back on the road responding 
to calls.  
 
NEAS has submitted a series of recovery plans for 2016/17 that indicate the service will 
achieve the constitutional performance standards in the last quarter of the year. It is 
however reliant upon co-operation from all areas of the health economy. The actions 
include: 
 

 Reducing handover delays 

 Reducing diverts by 50% 

 Reducing downtime in shifts 

 Continuing the use of advanced paramedics and improving skill mix 

 Fire and Rescue Service continuing as first responders (national pilot subject to 
evaluation) 
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 Increasing rapid response vehicle time 

 Increasing the volume of alternative services to A&E 

 Creating direct referral pathways to services and wards 

 Mobile directory of services to increase see and treat 
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Healthcare acquired infections 

 
Clostridium Difficile  
 
There were 83 cases reported relating to Northumberland residents against a target of 77 
during 2015/16. 
 
Table 10 - Clostridium difficile cases 

 

 
 
49 of the cases (59%) were acquired within the community.  
 
Table 11 - Clostridium difficile cases by source 2015/16 

 

 
 
Although the CCG has breached its performance trajectory, an alternative way to measure 
Clostridium Difficile prevalence is to calculate the rate per 100,000 population.  As table 12 
below shows, Northumberland’s performance is stronger than many of the other CCGs 
across the North East. 
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Table 12 – Clostridium difficile rates per 100,000 by CCG 

 

 
 
 

MRSA 
 
During 2015/16 there were two cases of Northumberland residents acquiring an MRSA 
infection in hospital. Work continues to reduce the risk of patients acquiring future cases of 
MRSA. 
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Incident reporting activity by GP practices 
 
The introduction of the Safeguard Incident and Risk Management System (SIRMS) for GP 
practices in 2014/15 has enabled the CCG to continue to gather intelligence on their 
commissioned providers directly from the primary care interface. 
 
Table 13 below shows the levels of incident reporting by GP practices grouped by the 
CCG’s four localities.  
 
Table 13 - Incident reporting activity by locality 2015/16 

 

 
 
The intelligence gained through the information gathered is collated into themes and 
trends to then work collaboratively with the relevant provider where appropriate. 
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Clinical quality improved through CQUIN 
 
In 2014/15 the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) scheme introduced the 
Sepsis ‘bundle of care’ to clinically appropriate patients. This is a recognised clinical 
programme to implement when patients are diagnosed with Sepsis. National research has 
shown that this approach significantly improves the chance of survival. As it was launched 
as a part of a two year programme to cover all clinical areas, work has continued in 
2015/16. Table 14 below shows the continuous improvement achieved within NHCFT.  
 
Table 14 - Sepsis – compliance with sepsis 6 bundle 
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Financial performance 

Key financial performance indicators 2015/16 

 
At the close of 2015/16, the CCG has not met the statutory requirement to ensure 
expenditure in a financial year does not exceed its allocated resource. The CCG’s deficit 
for 2015/16 was £5.04m, against the allocated revenue resource limit as reported in full in 
the annual accounts. The CCG total revenue resource allocation for 2015/16 was 
£457.68m and total spend was £462.72m. This represents around 1.1% of the CCG’s 
overall budget and follows a small surplus recorded in 2014/15. 
 
The CCG warned in January 2016 that, despite close monitoring and measures to manage 
the financial pressures, it was forecasting a deficit for the 2015/16 financial year, mainly 
due to significant over performance during November (£1.5m) within the main acute 
provider contract. The initial forecast deficit increased during quarter 4, again due to acute 
over performance - mostly during February (£1.8m). The CCG was not able to fully 
mitigate this level of over performance so late in the financial year and therefore was not 
able to avoid posting a deficit for 2015/16. 

Table 15 - Key financial performance indicators 2015/16 

 

NHS Act 
Section 

Duty Target  
£'000 

Performance 
£'000 

Total      
£'000 

Duty 
Achieved 

223H(1) Expenditure not to exceed income 457,709 
 

462,749 
 

(5,040) No 

223I(2) Capital resource use does not exceed 
the amount specified in Directions 

25 
 

25 0 Yes 

223I(3) Revenue resource use does not exceed 
the amount specified in Directions 

457,684 
 
 

462,724 
 

(5,040) No 

223J(1) Capital resource use on specified 
matter(s) does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions 

0 0 0 Yes 

223J(2) Revenue resource use on specified 
matter(s) does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions 

0 0 0 Yes 

223J(3) Revenue administration resource use 
does not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions 

7,941 
 

5,746 
 
 

2,195 Yes 

 

CCG commissioning budget 2015/16 

 
On 25 March 2015 the CCG’s JLEB approved the CCG 2015/16 annual commissioning 
programme budget. The CCG subsequently received additional revenue allocations in-
year to give an overall annual commissioning budget of £449.74m. 

CCG running costs budget 2015/16 

 
In addition to the commissioning budget the CCG had an initial annual running costs 
budget of £7.10m in 2015/16. This was budgeted across pay, other running costs and the 
Service Level Agreement with North of England Commissioning Support (NECS). During 
the year an additional allocation was received of £0.84m to this budget to give an overall 
annual running costs budget of £7.94m. 
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Context of the reported financial outturn 2015/16 

 
In 2014/15 a small surplus of £304k was recorded, despite a legacy underlying deficit 
position of £13m. The CCG has made significant progress to improve the underlying 
position since its inception in 2013. 
 
The 2015/16 budgets showed an in-year balance and a further improved underlying 
position, but required the delivery of an ambitious £7m Quality, Innovation, Productivity 
and Prevention (QIPP) savings programme. The CCG’s JLEB and Resource and 
Performance Committee received detailed regular reports on the CCG’s financial position 
at each meeting throughout the year. The cause of deficit in 2015/16 was due in the main 
to significant activity and cost over performance against contract in the latter months of the 
year, particularly with our main acute provider, in elective spells and day cases, non-
elective spells, excluded drugs and direct access diagnostics. 
 
The scale of the challenge in 2016/17 and beyond in Northumberland is therefore 
considerable. The CCG has made progress to develop a Financial Recovery Plan to 
deliver £20m total QIPP in 2016/17, as a result of demographic, activity and non-recurring 
pressures. This is against a backdrop of the main acute provider also needing to deliver a 
£32m surplus. This combination of competing financial pressures means the CCG needs 
to create a Financial Recovery Plan that delivers a step change in the way health and care 
services are organised and delivered in 2016/17, as a pre cursor to establishing the 
Accountable Care Organisation from April 2017. The Northumberland health economy has 
been in a position of financial recovery since 2006/07 and subject to formal turnaround 
programmes during that time. This means all obvious cost saving programmes have been 
implemented in full. The plan to meet the challenge therefore needs a paradigm shift.  
 
Medium term financial planning shows how the CCG will recover the position – from 
delivering a challenging QIPP programme in 2016/17 to securing a balanced out turn in 
2017/18 and then achieving the business rules in full from 2018/19 (including the surplus).  

Table 16 - Medium term headlines 2016-2019 

 

Business Rule 2016/17 
£000 

2017/18 
£000 

2018/19 
£000 

Surplus -5,040 0 5,111 

1% uncommitted headroom 4,917 5,014 5,112 

Contingency 2,496 2,546 2,556 

 

In order to deliver the financial recovery programme across the CCG and provider 
landscape, the CCG has taken external advice, conducted an internal capacity and 
capability analysis to ensure adequate CCG resource is available and worked closely with 
healthcare providers, NHS England and the Local Authority.  It has established a 
Programme Management Office (PMO) delivered by an external provider and has sought 
additional commissioning support input. The CCG’s PMO will work with its partner 
construct in North Tyneside CCG and the provider trusts, to ensure that resources are 
shared appropriately.  The CCG has also agreed a variation to the governing body 
governance arrangements to ensure greater involvement of lay members in decision  
making.  
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Better Payment Practice Code 

 
The Better Payment Practice Code (BPPC) requires all CCGs to aim to pay all valid 
invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later. 
The CCG has met the requirements of the code, as reported in the annual accounts and 
indicated in note 6.1 of the accounts. 

Table 17 – Better payment practice code performance 2015/16 

 

 31 March 2016 

 Number £000 

Non-NHS Payables CCG   

Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 6,665 74,717 

Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 6,411 74,037 

Percentage of CCG non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 96.19% 99.09% 

NHS Payables: CCG   

Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year 2,014 334,265 

Total NHS trade invoices paid within target 1,997 333,628 

Percentage of CCG NHS trade invoices paid within target 99.16% 99.81% 

 

Patient and public involvement 

 
We firmly believe that the views of the people of Northumberland count and strive to 
ensure that they are at the heart of our decision making processes.  We also seek to 
engage the views of member practices, healthcare professionals and the voluntary sector.  
 
We seek the view of patients, carers and the public through individual feedback, 
consultations, working with other organisations and community groups, attendance at 
community events and other engagement activities including patient surveys and focus 
groups. 
 
In 2015/16 we have ensured that the services we deliver to the people of Northumberland 
matches their needs.  We appreciate that to deliver this requires meaningful consultation 
and the involvement of all of our stakeholders.  We have also ensured that comments and 
feedback from our local communities are captured and, where possible, acted upon.  We 
give local people the opportunity to influence local health services on their terms and 
enable people to have their say using a variety of methods; from completing surveys to 
attending events and providing feedback either online, via post, text or telephone.  We 
invite people to be involved as little or as much as they like, enabling them to help shape 
and influence the way services are commissioned   
 
Vanguard co-design 
 
Our engagement in 2015/16 was multi-channelled and designed to engage as many 
people as possible.  While we have continued to talk about existing services and perceived 
issues surrounding them, the focus of our engagement effort has been the Vanguard 
programme.  Work in this area has included: 
 

 County wide on-line survey - Working with our Vanguard lead partner, Northumbria 
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (NHCFT), we surveyed the people of 
Northumberland to seek their initial views on GP access and the future design of 
the Primary and Acute Care System (PACS) in early 2016.  In addition to the survey 



NHS Northumberland Clinical Commissioning Group annual report and accounts 2015/16 

Page 32 of 96 
 

being available on-line, on-street teams encouraged participation in various 
locations throughout Northumberland.  This was the most successful engagement 
exercise since the CCG’s inception and nearly 3000 people took part in the survey.  
The feedback will be used in the PACS design process and the survey’s in-built 
ability to analyse the data on a locality level will ensure that the views of local 
people are taken fully into account. 
 

 Patient Forums - Two county wide forums took place in 2015/16, in Shilbottle and 
Choppington, both of which considered PACS.  Both forums were well attended by 
informed and engaged participants who were augmented by representatives from 
the CCG, NHCFT, Carers Northumberland and Healthwatch.  The following topics, 
which were steered by a number of supplementary questions, were considered by a 
range of discussion groups: 

 

 GP services and extending access to primary care 

 Community services 

 Hospital services 

 Caring for the elderly and those with complex needs 

 Supporting you to stay well at home 

 Helping you access the right services, at the right time  

 
The common themes expressed included: 

 

 A desire to improve access to GP appointments including flexible booking 
arrangements 

 Northumberland’s rurality and the associated transport problems 

 Communication across current healthcare boundaries 

 A single point of access for community services with an effective initial 
assessment process 

 Patients frustrated at having to explain and repeat their own story 

 More sources of advice should be available – including general wellbeing 
information 

 Carers should always be fully taken into account 

 Patients need to become better informed about what services to access and 
when – a sizeable education programme is required 

 
We believe that an effective feedback loop is equally as important as the initial 
information gathering.  Each forum therefore also receives an update on actions 
taken in response to previous comments.  
 
Feedback from both events was extremely positive.  One comment in response to 
the question ‘what was the most enjoyable part of the event’ stood out in particular 
“….seeing the effort put into the event by the organising team.  As an individual, I’ve 
become quite disillusioned by quite bad experiences which have made me feel 
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worthless as a patient, and here you were today putting in so much effort to include 
me and ask my opinion!  Wow!”   
 
In addition to the county-wide forums we have continued to engage extensively with 
our locality patient groups and have held similar discussion groups about PACS at 
this level.  We have also engaged with a young persons’ forum in this respect and 
are currently considering the best methods of ensuring that young people in 
Northumberland have every opportunity to provide input in a way that suits them. 
 
Together with a sizeable amount of data that has been shared by Healthwatch 
Northumberland, all data gathered from the patient forums that discussed PACS 
have been input into the CCG’s ‘data reservoir’, which is available for reference by 
the PACS design team.   Although we have only just taken our first engagement 
steps in this area we already have nearly 400 entries in the reservoir; this invaluable 
body of evidence is expected to grow over the next 12 months. 

 

 The Vanguard Co-Design Forum - Over the past two years we have worked 
extensively with the patient testing panel.  Led by the chair of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board and supported by Healthwatch, the panel has considered each of 
our large scale change programmes from their inception; from the initial objectives 
through to their impact on patient care.  The panel comprising those who are, or will 
be, directly affected by our strategic plans once again operated as a very effective 
‘critical friend’ to the CCG in the early part of 2015.  As the Vanguard programme 
developed pace over the year however it was clear that the panel’s role needed to 
be redefined and refocussed. 
 

In late 2015 the panel was renamed the Vanguard Co-Design Forum, its role was 
re-defined and its membership expanded to the following construct: 
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We want to ensure that local people feel empowered to fully contribute to the design of 
future health and care services.  The core panel above will attend all planned meetings.  
Comprising senior members of the Northumberland health and wellbeing economy, their 
primary roles are to provide co-design input to locality PACS models and, equally 
importantly, to ensure equity of access and quality across all localities.  A series of locality 
meetings will involve the wider participation of local people and professionals to firstly co-
design future health and care and then evaluate the final proposals.  Locality 
‘ambassadors’ have been appointed to speak for their particular area and to develop a 
communications network designed to engage and inform as many Northumberland people 
as possible.    

Sustainable development 

 
As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to work 
in a way that has a positive effect on the communities for which we commission healthcare 
services.  Sustainability means spending public money well, the smart and efficient use of 
natural resources and building healthy, resilient communities.  By making the most of 
social, environmental and economic assets, we can improve health both in the immediate 
and long term, even in the context of the rising costs of natural resources.  We are 
consequently working hard to minimise our footprint and our strategic estates plan 2015-
2020 includes the following headlines: 
 

 A shared approach to the use of capital and premises across the healthcare system 

 No barriers – financial, IT or organisational – resources flow to where the patient 
need is 

 Administration space to be reduced to minimum 

 Reduce the estate footprint by 6000 square metres with the consequent reduction in 
the associated carbon footprint and running costs 

 Running costs saved to be used to deliver improved clinical services 

 Void space to be reduced significantly and remaining void used to deliver care 
closer to the community   

 

As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute 
towards the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, 
public health and social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28% 
reduction from a 2013 baseline by 2020. It is our aim to meet this target by reducing our 
carbon emissions percentage using this year as the baseline year. 

Reducing inequality 

 
NHS Northumberland CCG complies with the Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector 
Equality Duty and we have demonstrated our commitment to taking Equality, Diversity and 
Human Rights (EDHR) into account in everything we do, whether that is commissioning 
services, employing people, developing policies, communicating, consulting or involving 
people in our work as shown below. 
 

The Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2) 
 
The EDS2 is a tool that has been designed by the NHS for the NHS, to enable 
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organisations to analyse their equality performance with the assistance of local 
stakeholders, prepare equality objectives and embed equality into mainstream 
commissioning activities. 
 
We have implemented the EDS2 framework and have been using the tool to support the 
mainstreaming of equalities into all our core business functions and performance for the 
community, patients, carers and staff.  This has also been an opportunity to raise equality 
in service commissioning and gain insight into the local population’s diverse health needs. 
 
Our equality objectives for 2013-15 have been reviewed and updated and we have 
implemented the EDS2 tool to develop and publish our equality objectives for 2016/17. 
 
The JLEB has approved plans detailing actions we will take to ensure that individuals, 
communities and staff are treated equitably. Progress against these action plans is 
reported to the Governance Group regularly. 
 

Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) 
 
In accordance with the Public Sector Equality Duty, the NHS Equality and Diversity 
Council has agreed measures to ensure employees from black and ethnic minority 
backgrounds have equal access to career opportunities and receive fair treatment in the 
workplace. 
 
One of these measures (alongside EDS2) is the Workforce Race Equality Standard 
(WRES) which asks NHS organisations to demonstrate progress against workforce 
equality by collecting and analysing their workforce data in relation to nine specific 
indicators. 
 
The most recent update from NHS England in July 2015 advised that CCGs are to have 
‘due regard’ to the WRES and are expected to apply the WRES to themselves.  It has 
been recognised that for some CCGs this could be problematic due to having small 
workforces (under 100 members of staff) and information becoming identifiable. Further 
guidance has been sought from NHS England on this issue.  The CCG has taken ‘due 
regard’ themselves to the metrics contained in the standard to help improve workplace 
experiences and representation at all levels for black and minority ethnic staff. 
 
Meetings have been held with relevant parties and HR teams to ascertain what data is 
held against each indicator. A representative for the CCG attended the NHS England 
Event in Newcastle on 4 November 2015 and was advised to submit a report showing 
current data for the CCG against each of the nine indicators to the relevant committee by 
summer 2016. 
 
The CCG continues to engage with NHS England, who acknowledge that further guidance 
is required for CCGs on how to apply the standard effectively. The CCG awaits this 
guidance to ensure compliance with the WRES. 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
 
Our Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Toolkit and Guidance which covers all equality 
groups offered protection under the Equality Act 2010 (Race, Disability, Gender, Age, 
Sexual Orientation, Religion/Belief, Marriage and Civil Partnership and Gender Re-
assignment) in addition to Human Rights and Carers has been refreshed for 2016.  
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Our EIA process ensures that we can consider the impact or effect, either positive or 
negative, of our policies, procedures and functions on various sections of the population 
we serve. For any negative impacts identified we will take immediate steps to deal with 
such issues as part of the action plan set out in the tool to make sure equity of service 
delivery is available for all as well as the opportunity to continuously monitor progress 
against challenges identified. 
 
The tool now includes checks in relation to the Accessible Information Standard to aid 
compliance with the Standard when commissioning services to ensure that information is 
provided to all service users and patients in a way they can understand.  Our staff have 
been offered interactive training on how to complete the document as well as process 
guidance within the EIA, Frequently Asked Questions, Impact Assessment Questions and 
a Process Flow chart are also available for reference. 
 

Governance 

 
Equality and Diversity is governed and reports into the JLEB. The Board ensures we are 
compliant with legislative, mandatory and regulatory requirements regarding equality and 
diversity; develops and delivers national and regional diversity-related initiatives within the 
CCG; provides a forum for sharing issues and opportunities; functions as a two-way 
conduit for information dissemination and escalation; monitors progress against the 
Equality Strategy; and supports us in the achievement of key equality and diversity 
objectives.  A quarterly Governance Assurance Report is submitted to the Governance 
Group outlining relevant updates in relation to EDHR. 
 

Staff training 
 
Equality and Diversity training is a mandatory requirement for our staff with induction 
training on EDHR being provided for new starters and mandatory refresher training carried 
out every three years. This includes online training assessments as well as face to face 
workshops as requested. 
 
Staff involved in the recruitment of new staff are also required to undertake recruitment 
and selection training which includes awareness of equality and diversity legislation as it 
relates to the recruitment process.  
 

Accessibility and communications 
 
Our public buildings are accessible for people with a disability as we ensure all buildings 
have had disability access audits.  
 
We use everyday language solutions when an interpreter is required by telephone and 
when face to face interpreting may be needed. Information for patients and the general 
public is available in other languages or formats such as large print or Braille and audio, 
upon request.  
 

Accessible Information Standard (AIS) 
 
The AIS advises organisations how they should ensure that disabled patients receive 
information in formats they can understand and that they receive appropriate support to 
help them to communicate. 
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The CCG understands that by 1 April 2016 all organisations that provide NHS or publicly 
funded adult social care must identify and record information and communication needs 
with service users: 
 

 At the first interaction or registration with their service 

 As part of on-going routine interaction with the service by existing service users 

 
We have acknowledged this commitment and included the AIS in our revised EIA tool 
ensuring that the standard is considered and we are compliant when Equality Impact 
Assessing all new and existing services. 

 
Compliments and complaints 
 
We welcome feedback, positive or negative, about people’s experience of local NHS 
services as this helps us to improve services for patients. 
 

Equal Opportunities for staff 
 
We can demonstrate fair and equitable recruitment, workforce engagement and 
employment terms and conditions to ensure levels of pay and related terms and conditions 
are fairly determined for all posts, with staff doing equal work, and work rated as of equal 
value, being entitled to equal pay. 

Two Tick Disability Symbol  
 
The CCG has successfully renewed its accreditation as a Two Tick Disability employer for 
2016. The symbol, awarded by Jobcentre Plus, demonstrates our commitment to employ, 
retain and develop the abilities of disabled staff.  
 
As a Two Tick Disability Symbol employer we have displayed five commitments regarding 
recruitment, training, retention, consultation and disability awareness: 
 

 To interview all disabled applicants who meet the minimum criteria for a job 
vacancy and to consider them on their abilities 

 To discuss with disabled employees, at any time but at least once a year, what both 
parties can do to make sure disabled employees can develop and use their abilities 

 To make every effort when employees become disabled to make sure they stay in 
employment 

 To take action to ensure that all employees develop the appropriate level of 
disability awareness needed to make these commitments work 

 To review these commitments each year and assess what has been achieved, plan 
ways to improve on them and let employees and Jobcentre Plus know about 
progress and future plans. 
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Leadership 
 
Our lead for Equality and Diversity sits on the JLEB and is a member of the Governing 
Body. A quarterly Governance Assurance Report is submitted to the Governance Group 
outlining relevant updates in relation to EDHR. 
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Accountability report 

Corporate governance report 

Members report 

 

Details of Members of the Membership Body and Governing Body 

 
The CCG membership body consists of one clinical representative from each of the 
following 44 member practices: 
 

Adderlane Surgery 
Bedlingtonshire Medical Group 
Belford Medical Group 
Bellingham Practice 
Bondgate Surgery 
Branch End Surgery 
Brockwell Medical Group 
Burn Brae Medical Group 
Cheviot Medical Group 
Collingwood Medical Group 
Coquet Medical Group 
Corbridge Medical Group 
Cramlington Medical Group 
Elsdon Avenue Surgery 
Forum Family Practice 
Gables Medical Group 
Gas House Lane Surgery 
Glendale Surgery 
Greystoke Surgery 
Guide Post Medical Group 
Haltwhistle Medical Group 
Haydon Bridge and Allendale Health Centre 
Humshaugh and Wark Medical Group 
Infirmary Drive Medical Group 
Laburnum Medical Group 
Lintonville Medical Group 
Marine Medical Group 
Middle Farm Surgery 
Netherfield House Surgery 
Ponteland Medical Group 
Prudhoe Medical Group 
Riversdale Surgery 
Rothbury Practice 
Scots Gap Medical Group 
Seaton Park Medical Group 
Sele Medical Practice 
Station Medical Group 
Union Brae and Norham Practice 
Village Surgery 
Waterloo Medical Group 
Well Close Medical Group 
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Wellway Medical Group 
White Medical Group 
Widdrington Surgery 

 
The Governing Body membership consists of: 
 

 Mrs Jacqui Henderson, CCG Lay Chair *1 

 Mrs Janet Guy, CCG Lay Chair 

 Mrs Karen Bower, Lay Governor with lead for resources and performance and 
deputy CCG lay Chair 

 Mr Steve Brazier, Lay Governor with lead for audit and conflict of interest 

 Mr Peter Atkinson, Lay Governor with lead for patient and public involvement *2 

 Dr John Unsworth, nurse 

 Dr Paul Crook, secondary care doctor 

 Dr Alistair Blair, Chief Clinical Officer (Accountable Officer) 

 Mrs Julie Ross, Chief Operating Officer 

 Mr Rob Robertson, Chief Finance Officer 

 Dr Frances Naylor, Locality Director (Blyth Valley) and Director for Long Term 
Conditions 

*1 Mrs Jacqui Henderson, CCG Lay Chair, left the organisation in May 2015, Mrs Janet 
Guy was appointed CCG Lay Chair in June 2015 
 
*2 Mr Peter Atkinson left the organisation in February 2016.  Mrs Karen Bower was 
appointed as lead for patient and public involvement as well as resources and 
performance 
 
The Audit Committee membership consists of: 
 

 Mr Steve Brazier, Lay Governor with lead for audit and conflict of interest (Chair) 

 Mr Peter Atkinson, Lay Governor with lead for patient and public involvement*1 

 Mrs Karen Bower, Lay Governor with lead for resources and performance and 
deputy CCG lay Chair*2 

 Dr Paul Crook, secondary care doctor*3 

 
*1 Mr Peter Atkinson left the organisation in February 2016 
*2 Mrs Karen Bower stood down from the Audit Committee in February 2016 
*3 Dr Paul Crook joined the Audit Committee in March 2016 
 
The governance statement provides full details of the members and the work of the other 
CCG’s committees and groups.  
 
Details of any declarations of interest for Governing Body members, Joint Locality 
Executive Board members, staff and members practices can be found on the CCG’s 
website at http://www.northumberlandccg.nhs.uk/about-us/register-of-interest/. 

http://www.northumberlandccg.nhs.uk/about-us/register-of-interest/
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Pension liabilities 

 
Information on pension liabilities is shown in the Remuneration Report under the section 
on Northumberland CCG Senior Officers Pension Benefits 2015/16 – (page 84)  

External audit 

 
The Audit Commission appointed Mazars LLP as the CCG’s external auditor for the years 
2013/14 to 2016/17. The 2015/16 audit fee was £67,500 plus VAT. This was based on the 
scale of audit fees set by the Audit Commission.  
 
The auditors did not perform any non-audit work for the CCG during the 12 month period 
beginning April 2015. 

Disclosure of serious untoward incidents 

 
There have been no information governance serious breaches this year. This is referred to 
in the data security section of the governance statement (page 76). 

Cost allocation and setting of charges for information 

 
“I certify that the Clinical Commissioning Group has complied with HM Treasury’s 
guidance on setting charges for information.”  
 
Rob Robertson, Chief Finance Officer 

Principles for remedy 

 
The CCG aspires to the highest standards of corporate behaviour and clinical 
competence, to ensure that safe, fair and equitable procedures are applied to all 
organisational transactions, including relationships with patients, their carers, public, staff, 
stakeholders and the use of public resources. We acknowledge that as a public sector 
organisation we should have clear and accessible complaints procedures. We have an 
approved complaints policy and procedure which is available on our website.  
 
The Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO) published Principles of 
Remedy in May 2010, setting out six principles that represent best practice in complaints 
handling. Our complaints policy incorporates, and makes reference to, the six principles 
contained within the Principles of Remedy. 

Emergency preparedness, resilience and response 

 
“I certify that the clinical commissioning group has incident response plans in place, which 
are fully compliant with the NHS Commissioning Board Emergency Preparedness 
Framework 2013. The Clinical Commissioning Group regularly reviews and makes 
improvements to its major incident plan and has a programme for regularly testing this 
plan, the results of which are reported to the Governing Body.”  
 
Julie Ross, Chief Operating Officer (executive with responsibility for emergency 
preparedness and resilience).  
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Statement as disclosure to auditors 

 
The Governing Body is not aware of any relevant audit information that has been withheld 
from the Clinical Commissioning Group’s external auditors, and members of the Governing 
Body take all necessary steps to make themselves aware of relevant information and to 
ensure that this is passed to the external auditors where appropriate. 
 
 
 
 
 
Dr Alistair Blair 
Chief Clinical Officer (Accountable Officer) 
25 May 2016 
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s responsibilities 

 
Statement of the Chief Clinical Officer Responsibilities as the Accountable Officer of NHS 
Northumberland Clinical Commissioning Group.  
 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be 
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed 
the Chief Clinical Officer to be the Accountable Officer of the Clinical Commissioning 
Group.  
 
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including responsibilities for the propriety 
and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable, for 
keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to ensure that 
the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction) and for safeguarding 
the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities), are set out in the Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 
 
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed 
each clinical commissioning group to prepare for each financial year financial statements 
in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are 
prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity 
and cash flows for the financial year.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with 
the requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health and in 
particular to:  
 

 Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on 
a consistent basis 

 Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis  

 State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Manual for 
Accounts have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in 
the financial statements 

 Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis  

 
The annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and I 
take personal responsibility for the annual report and accounts and the judgements 
required for determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



NHS Northumberland Clinical Commissioning Group annual report and accounts 2015/16 

Page 44 of 96 
 

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set 
out in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  
 
 
 
 
 
Dr Alistair Blair 
Chief Clinical Officer (Accountable Officer)  
25 May 2016 
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Governance statement 

 

Introduction and context 

 
The Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) was licenced from 1 April 2013 under provisions 
enacted in the Health and Social Care Act 2012, which amended the National Health 
Service Act 2006. 
 
As at 1 April 2015, the CCG was licensed without conditions. 

 

Scope of responsibility 

 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims 
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally 
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in ‘Managing Public 
Money’. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in my Clinical Commissioning 
Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 
 
I am responsible for ensuring that the CCG is administered prudently and economically 
and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial propriety 
and regularity. 

 

Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code 

 
Clinical Commissioning Groups are not required to comply with the UK Corporate 
Governance Code.  However, we have reported on our Corporate Governance 
arrangements by drawing upon best practice available, including those aspects of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code we consider to be relevant to the CCG. 

The Clinical Commissioning Group Governance Framework 

 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), at paragraph 14L(2)(b) states: 
“The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the CCG has made appropriate 
arrangements for ensuring that it complies with such generally accepted principles of good 
governance as are relevant to it.” 
 
The governance framework comprised the systems and processes by which the CCG was 
controlled. It enabled the CCG to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives and to 
consider whether those objectives had led to the delivery of appropriate, cost effective 
services.   
 

The Constitution 

 
The CCG has a constitution which is fully compliant with the legislation under the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012, which was in place at the time of authorisation and was 
approved by its members.  The constitution sets out the way in which the CCG will operate 
and was subject to review during 2015/16.   Changes were made to the constitution in 
March 2016, to reflect delegated commissioning.  Members were notified of, and 
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approved, the changes to the constitution at the Members Meeting in March 2016.  NHS 
England subsequently approved the changes in March 2016. 
  
The constitution permits the CCG to grant authority to its members, its Governing Body, its 
employees and any committee or sub-committee of the CCG to act on its behalf when 
exercising its functions to commission health services.  The CCG has put in place the 
following arrangements to carry out its functions to discharge the duties placed upon it by 
the mandate issued by the Secretary of State each year: 
 

 Delegating responsibility for ensuring that the CCG’s strategy, plans, operational 
policies and procedures are consistent with the CCG’s duties to the Joint Locality 
Executive Board 

 Requiring the Governing Body to give assurance that the CCG is acting consistently 
with its duties 

 
The CCG remains accountable for all of its functions, including those that it has delegated. 

Membership of the Clinical Commissioning Group  

 
A total of 44 practices comprise the members of NHS Northumberland Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) and details of these are included in the CCG’s constitution.  
There were previously 46 member practices, but two practices merged during the year 
(Haydon and Allen Valleys and Allendale Health Centre merged to become Haydon Bridge 
and Allendale Health Centre) and one closed (Harbottle Surgery).  Providers of primary 
medical services to a registered list of patients under a General Medical Services, 
Personal Medical Services or Alternative Provider Medical Services contract, are eligible to 
apply for membership of the CCG.  No other providers of primary medical services have 
applied for membership of the CCG during 2015/16.  
 
The membership of the CCG, through its practice representatives is responsible for: 
 

 Making recommendations to NHS England for any amendments to the CCG’s 
constitution 

 Approving arrangements for appointments within the CCG 

 Making recommendations to NHS England for the appointment by NHS England of 
the Chief Clinical Officer 

 Approving the appointment of, and terms and conditions for, members of the CCG’s 
Governing Body 

 Approving the CCG’s annual report and accounts 

 
Each member has a practice representative who represents their practice’s views and acts 
on behalf of the practice in matters relating to the CCG.  
 
In addition to the practice representatives the CCG has identified a number of roles to 
either support the work of the CCG and/or represent the CCG. The roles may be filled by 
GPs, primary care health professionals, or other practice employees/ partners who are not 
health professionals. These representatives undertake the following roles on behalf of the 
CCG:  
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One Locality Director each, for:  
 

 Blyth Valley 

 Central Northumberland 

 North Northumberland 

 West Northumberland 
 
One Business Director for:  
 

 Finance and Commissioning 
 
A total of two members’ meetings (Council of Practices) were held during the period April 
2015 to March 2016. 
 

Date of meeting Total no. of member representatives in attendance 
(out of 44 members) 

10 September 2015 32 

10 March 2016 31 

 
At each of the members’ meetings general updates including updates on finance, 
commissioning plans and quality were provided.   

 

The Governing Body 

 
The Governing Body is established as a committee of the CCG in accordance with the 
constitution, standing orders and scheme of delegation. In accordance with the terms of 
reference, the Governing Body meets bi-monthly, with a minimum of five meetings per 
financial year.  A total of six meetings of the Governing Body were held during the period 
April 2015 to March 2016; membership and attendance is as follows: 
 

Title Member Attendance 

Lay Chair Jacqui Henderson 1/1*1 

Lay Chair Janet Guy 5/5*2   

Three Lay Governors:   

Lead on audit and conflict of interest Steve Brazier 5/6 

Lead on patient and public involvement Peter Atkinson 5/5*3 

Lead on resources and performance Karen Bower  5/6 

One registered nurse Dr John Unsworth  3/6 

One secondary care specialist doctor Dr Paul Crook 5/6 

The Chief Clinical Officer Dr Alistair Blair 5/6 

One Locality Director/Business Director  Dr Frances Naylor 5/6 

The Chief Operating Officer Julie Ross  6/6 

The Chief Finance Officer  Rob Robertson 4/6 

 
*1 Jacqui Henderson, Lay Chair, left the organisation in May 2015 
*2 Janet Guy was appointed as Lay Chair in June 2015 
*3 Peter Atkinson, Lay Governor, left the organisation in February 2016 
 
The Governing Body terms of reference state that the Lay Governor lead on patient and 
public involvement or the Lay Governor lead on resources and performance may be 



NHS Northumberland Clinical Commissioning Group annual report and accounts 2015/16 

Page 48 of 96 
 

appointed as deputy Lay Chair.  Karen Bower, Lay Governor lead on resources and 
performance has been appointed as deputy Lay Chair. 
 
The Governing Body members bring a range of complementary skills and experience in 
areas such as finance, governance and health policy. All Lay member appointments, and 
the appointment of the Chair, have been made in accordance with the constitution, taking 
account of the skill sets already represented on the Board and recognising where gaps 
could be filled.  
 
The principal function of the Governing Body is to provide the CCG with an independent 
and objective view of the CCG’s arrangements to exercise its functions effectively, 
efficiently and economically and in accordance with the CCG’s principles of good 
governance.  It has functions conferred on it by sections 14L(2) and (3) of the 2006 
National Health Service Act, inserted by section 25 of the 2012 Health and Social Care 
Act. 
 
The Governing Body has responsibility for the following key areas in relation to the CCG’s 
governance arrangements: 
 

 Ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its 
functions effectively, efficiently and economically and in accordance with the CCG’s 
principles of good governance (its main function) 

 Determining the remuneration, fees and other allowances payable to employees or 
other persons providing services to the CCG 

 Giving assurance that the CCG is acting consistently with its functions and duties 
approving a comprehensive system of internal control, including budgetary control, 
that underpin the effective, efficient and economic operation of the CCG 

 Giving assurance that the CCG is meeting its duty to act effectively, efficiently and 
economically 

 Approving arrangements, including supporting policies, to secure continuous 
improvement in quality and patient outcomes, and giving assurance that the CCG is 
meeting its duty to act with a view to securing continuous improvement to the 
quality of services 

 Giving assurance that the CCG is discharging its financial duties appropriately and 
that there are sufficient actions in place to mitigate risks in delivery 

 Reporting to the CCG any issues that give it cause for assurance concern 

 
Regular items on the agenda of the Governing Body meetings include: 
 

 Updates on the work of the Resource and Performance Committee, Engagement 
Public Health and Quality Committee, Audit Committee and the Northumberland 
Primary Care Co-Commissioning Committee. 

 Financial performance updates 

 A report highlighting key issues is presented by the Chief Clinical Officer along with 
a patient story 

 Regular updates on the development of the CCG assurance framework and 
corporate risk register 
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 Regular updates on the development of the Primary and Acute Care System 
(PACS) and the Accountable Care Organisation 

 
Some of the key areas that the Governing Body has been assured on in 2015/16 have 
been, but not limited to:  
 

 PACS – In April 2015 the CCG was selected by NHS England, alongside other 
Northumberland partners, to become a Vanguard site.  As a joint lead partner with 
Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust the CCG has worked with the 
national NHS new care models team to re-design the health and care system in 
Northumberland and has heavily engaged with both member practices and local 
people in this respect.  The Governing Body was provided regular progress 
updates and was assured that the CCG was taking all appropriate actions.   
 

 System resilience plan – Northumberland urgent care operations group manages 
all operational elements of system resilience and reports to the Integration Board.  
The group, which has representatives from all provider organisations, updates 
assurance, identifies operational issues and risks and maximises resource and 
capacity during periods of surge.  In 2015 NHS England provided assurance of the 
system plan. 
 
The Governing Body understands that system resilience in Northumberland has 
always been well managed and NHS England assurance levels confirmed that 
position. 
 

 Focus on learning disability: Transforming Care – Learning disabilities are one of 
the CCG’s commissioning priorities included in both the local operational plan and 
the ‘Achieving Health and Wellbeing Strategy’.  The Transforming Care 
programme provides a framework to consolidate national ambitions and local 
priorities into a single delivery plan, and enables the CCG to build on the progress 
made on the Winterbourne View joint action plan across health and social care. 
The joint work between Northumberland County Council and the CCG to support 
the Transforming Care programme will further strengthen the collaborative working 
between the providers and commissioners of learning disability and autism 
services. 
 

 Children and young people’s emotional health and wellbeing strategy – In 
2013/14 the CCG developed a model of care for mental health services in the 
county, covering all groups of patients from children to older people.  In August 
2015, NHS England published guidance for local health and care communities on 
the development of ‘Local Transformation Plans’ to support improvements in 
children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing.  The strategy, including 
the adoption of the ‘thrive’ model of care was considered. 
 

 Risk register and assurance framework – The Governing Body noted that a large 
body of work had been undertaken in this respect in 2015/16 and was assured that 
the CCG had undertaken a robust assessment of their risk appetite and had 
identified appropriate risks.  They were also assured that adequate plans were in 
place to mitigate the risks. 

 
Minutes of Governing Body meetings are available here: 
www.northumberlandccg.nhs.uk/about-us/governing-body/meetings-and-papers/ 

http://www.northumberlandccg.nhs.uk/about-us/governing-body/meetings-and-papers/
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Committees of the Governing Body  

 
The Governing Body undertakes a proportion of its work through committees. Each 
committee has a set of terms of reference, which have been formally approved by the 
Governing Body. Committee Chairs present their chair approved minutes to the Governing 
Body meeting following their meeting.   
       

Audit Committee    

 
The principal function of the Audit Committee is to provide the Governing Body with an 
independent and objective view of the CCG’s financial systems, financial information and 
compliance with laws, regulations and directions governing the CCG in so far as they 
relate to finance.  The Committee reviews the establishment and maintenance of an 
effective system of integrated governance, risk management and internal control across 
the whole of the CCG’s activities (both clinical and non-clinical) that supports the 
achievement of the CCG’s objectives. 
 
The remit and responsibilities of the Committee are to critically review the CCG’s financial 
reporting and internal control principles and ensure an appropriate relationship with both 
internal and external auditors is maintained. The duties of the committee are driven by the 
priorities identified by the CCG, and the associated risks. It operates to a programme of 
business, agreed by the CCG, and is flexible to new and emerging priorities and risks. 
 
The membership of the Audit Committee is drawn from Lay members of the Governing 
Body.  In accordance with the terms of reference the Audit Committee meets bi-monthly, 
with a minimum of five meetings per financial year.  A total of six meetings of the Audit 
Committee have been held during the year with attendance by members as follows: 
 

Member Attendance 

Steve Brazier (Chair) 6/6  

Peter Atkinson *1  4/5 

Karen Bower *2 5/5 

Dr Paul Crook *3 1/1 

 
*1 Peter Atkinson left the organisation in February 2016 
*2 Karen Bower stood down from the Audit Committee in February 2016 
*3 Dr Paul Crook joined the Audit Committee in March 2016 
 
The Committee’s main activities during 2015/16 have been:  
 

 Receiving and critically reviewing reports from both internal audit, external audit and 
service audit reports 

 Approving the internal audit work plan for current and future years 

 Assuring the accuracy of the CCG’s 2015/16 annual reports and accounts 

 Reviewing risks to ensure they are complete, appropriately scored and mitigations 
are managed and appropriate 

 Reviewing the processes in place to identify conflicts of interest in decision making, 
and how any identified conflicts were handled 
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In July 2015 the Committee undertook an assessment of its operation and effectiveness 
using the self-assessment checklist for Audit Committees produced by the National Audit 
Office.    
 
The Committee has assured the accuracy and integrity of the CCG’s 2015/16 annual 
report and accounts. 
 

Appointments and Remuneration Committee  

 
The principal function of the Appointments and Remuneration Committee (ARC) is to 
advise the Governing Body on senior appointments, about appropriate remuneration and 
terms of service, and determine the remuneration and terms of service of members of the 
Joint Locality Executive Board and other staff directly accountable to the Chief Clinical 
Officer or Chief Operating Officer. 
 
The membership of the ARC is drawn from Lay members of the Governing Body.  In 
accordance with the terms of reference the ARC meets as and when required, no less 
than once per financial year and no more than 15 months between meetings.  Three 
meetings of the ARC were held during the year.  Attendance by members was as follows: 
 

Member Attendance 

Jacqui Henderson (Chair)*1 1/1 

Janet Guy (Chair)*2 2/2  

Steve Brazier  3/3 

Peter Atkinson*3  1/3 

Karen Bower 3/3 

 
*1 Jacqui Henderson, Lay Chair, left the organisation in May 2015 
*2 Janet Guy was appointed as Lay Chair in June 2015 
*3 Peter Atkinson left the organisation in February 2016 
 
The Committee discussed remuneration levels for 2015/16 for appropriate CCG staff. 
  

The Engagement, Public Health and Quality Committee  

 
The principal function of the Engagement, Public Health and Quality Committee (EPHQ) is 
to provide the Governing Body with assurance that: 
 

 Quality sits at the heart of everything the CCG does and that its business is 
focussed on improving quality outcomes 

 The CCG is contributing to the development and achievement of the local public 
health strategy and the health and wellbeing strategy, and  

 The CCG is engaging with local people and stakeholders, in the delivery of its core 
functions, including development and delivery of its commissioning strategy and 
annual plans 

 
The membership of the EPHQ is drawn from Lay members and Executive members of the 
CCG.  Northumberland County Council’s Director of Public Health, Penny Spring and the 
Chair of Healthwatch, Cynthia Atkin are ex-officio members. 
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In accordance with the terms of reference the EPHQ meets bi-monthly, with a minimum of 
five meetings per financial year.  A total of six meetings of the EPHQ have been held 
during the year with attendance by members as follows:  
 

Member Attendance 

Peter Atkinson (Chair)*1 5/5  

Karen Bower (Chair)*2 1/1 

Dr John Unsworth   5/6 

Dr Paul Crook  5/6 

Penny Spring 3/6 

Cynthia Atkin  3/6 

 
*1 Peter Atkinson left the organisation in February 2016 
*2 Karen Bower took over the role of Chair of the committee in March 2016 
 
The Committee’s main activities during 2015/16 have been:  
 

 Quality – Throughout the year, it was evident to the Committee that the CCG 
consistently pressed for quality from its providers.  The Committee was regularly 
presented with data that showed the main providers performance against a range of 
quality measures. The NHS thermometer and the traffic light measure monitored 
the performance of the CCG’s main providers. Both Children and Adult 
Safeguarding issues were also closely monitored throughout 2015/16 and the 
committee was satisfied with CCG work in this area.  Overall the Committee was 
fully assured on quality issues in 2015/16. 

 

 Engagement – Engagement with patients, the public, stakeholders and CCG 
members was monitored closely and an evidence of engagement report produced 
by the CCG was regularly reviewed.  Both CCG and initial Vanguard engagement 
evolutions were considered, alongside initial feedback from the two county-wide 
events held in July 2015 and February 2016. The Committee was fully assured that 
the CCG had undertaken appropriate engagement in 2015/16. 

 

 Public Health – The Public Health Department reorganisation was completed in 
2015/16 and this has led the Committee more recently to a higher level of initial 
assurance than in previous years.  Towards the end of 2015/16 the Committee was 
assured that Public Health and the CCG were working effectively together. 

 

The Resources and Performance Committee 

 
The principal function of the Resources and Performance Committee (RPC) is to provide 
the Governing Body with assurance that the CCG is complying with its duty to exercise its 
functions effectively, efficiently and economically. In particular it will seek assurance on the 
effective use of CCG resource to deliver its strategy and annual plan. 

 
The membership of this Committee is drawn from Lay members of the Governing Body.  In 
accordance with the terms of reference the RPC meets bi-monthly, with a minimum of five 
meetings per financial year.  A total of seven meetings of the RPC have been held during 
the year with attendance by members as follows: 
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Member Attendance 

Karen Bower (Chair) 7/7  

Steve Brazier  7/7 

Dr John Unsworth  6/7 

Dr Paul Crook 7/7 

 
Regular items on the agenda include:  
 

 The resources report which details the financial position of the CCG, recovery and 
cost improvement plans, and compliance with statutory requirements 

 The performance report which shows trends against national data and targets and 
the CCG’s own trajectories and highlights clearly its areas of strength and any 
weaknesses.  The performance of the CCG is above the national average in most 
categories.  Where there are weaknesses the Committee has been assured that the 
CCG investigates these thoroughly and seeks improvement from service providers 

 A domain update report detailing progress against the annual plan 

 
The Committee received regular financial reports designed to show the CCG’s compliance 
with all financial regulations.  As the year progressed however it became clear that the 
CCG was unable to comply with the full range of its statutory financial duties and that, due 
to the financial pressures caused by the over-performance of the two main acute 
providers, it was increasingly likely that the CCG would be in deficit at year end.   
 
The CCG performance data indicates that performance is at least as expected and in 
many cases good.  The performance of North East Ambulance Service (NEAS) has been 
a key area of concern during 2015/16 as performance has fallen significantly from 
2014/15.  The CCG has proactively worked alongside all partnerships to mitigate this issue 
and implement improvements. 
 

Northumberland Primary Care Co-commissioning Committee 

 
The Northumberland Primary Care Co-commissioning Committee (NPCCC) is a joint 
committee of NHS England and NHS Northumberland CCG formed with the primary 
purpose of jointly commissioning primary medical services for the people of 
Northumberland. 
 
The remit and responsibilities of the NPCCC shall be to carry out the functions relating to 
the commissioning of primary medical services under section 83 of the NHS Act (except 
those relating to individual GP performance management, which have been reserved to 
NHS England) and such CCG functions under sections 3 and 3A of the NHS Act as have 
been delegated to the joint committee.  
 
This includes, but is not limited to, the following activities: 
 

 General Medical Services (GMS), Personal Medical Services (PMS) and Alternative 
Providers of Medical Services (APMS) contracts (including the design of PMS and 
APMS contracts, monitoring of contracts, taking contractual action such as issuing 
branch/remedial notices, and removing a contract) 
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 Newly designed enhanced services (‘Local Enhanced Services’ and ‘Directed 
Enhanced Services’) 

 Design of local incentive schemes as an alternative to the Quality Outcomes 
Framework (QOF) 

 Decision making on whether to establish new GP practices in an area 

 Approving practice mergers 

 Making decisions on ‘discretionary’ payment (e.g. returner/retainer schemes) 

 
The membership of this Committee is drawn from Lay members of the Governing Body, 
the CCG Chief Operating Officer or nominated Director and a Director of Deputy Director 
from NHS England Cumbria and North East Area Team.  In accordance with the terms of 
reference the NPCCC meets at regular intervals and not less than five times per financial 
year.  A total of five meetings of the NPCCC have been held during the year with 
attendance by members as follows: 
 

Member Attendance 

Janet Guy (Chair) 5/5 

Karen Bower  4/5 

Julie Ross 5/5 

NHS England Representative 5/5 

 

Committees of the CCG – the following committees have been established by the 
CCG: 

 
The Joint Locality Executive Board 

 
The Joint Locality Executive Board (JLEB) has been established as a committee of the 
CCG in accordance with its constitution, standing orders and scheme of delegation. The 
principal function of the board is to deliver the CCG’s executive management functions.   
 
The remit and responsibilities of the JLEB are: 
 

 Setting the strategy of the CCG 

 Agreeing the annual commissioning plan 

 Overseeing delivery of the strategy and annual plan 

 Delivering target outcomes and outputs set by the Secretary of State NHSCB, 
NICE, CQC and other national/regional authorised bodies 

 Agreeing annual commissioning budgets 

 Managing the CCG’s financial and non-financial performance 

 Preparing the CCG’s annual report 

 Agreeing the CCG’s organisational policies and procedures 

 Agreeing contracts with organisations or individuals providing clinical or other 
services to the CCG 
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In accordance with the terms of reference the JLEB meets on a monthly basis. A total of 
11 meetings of the JLEB were held during the period April 2015 to March 2016; 
membership and attendance is as follows: 
 

Title Member Attendance 

Chief Clinical Officer (Chair) Dr Alistair Blair 10/11 

Locality Director (Blyth Valley) Dr Frances Naylor   11/11 

Locality Director (Central) Dr Eileen Higgins* 2/2 

Locality Director (Central) Dr John Warrington                        10/11 

Locality Director (North) Hilary Brown  10/11 

Locality Director (West) Dr David Shovlin 9/11 

Business Director –  
(Finance and Commissioning) 

Dr John Warrington 10/11 

Chief Operating Officer Julie Ross 10/11 

Chief Finance Officer Rob Robertson 10/11 

Transformation Director Siobhan Brown 7/11 

Director of Quality and Patient Safety Annie Topping 10/11 

 
* Dr Eileen Higgins left the organisation in June 2015 
 
Regular items on the agenda of the JLEB meetings include: 
 

 A report highlighting key issues is presented by the Chief Clinical Officer and the 
Chief Operating Officer 

 A patient story 

 Updates on the issues discussed at Governance Group, Quality Intelligence Group 
and the Medicines Optimisation Group 

 Updates on the development of the CCG assurance framework and corporate risk 
register 

 Review and approval of policies and strategies of the CCG 

 Updates on the financial position, performance report and commissioning plan 

 Updates on quality and safety issues 

 
Other items discussed at the JLEB meetings held during the year include a review and 
approval of any subsequent changes to the terms of reference of the JLEB’s sub-groups; 
review and approval of proposed changes to the CCG’s constitution.  
 

Sub-groups of the Joint Locality Executive Board  

 

Governance Group 

 
The principal function of the Governance Group (GG) is to provide JLEB with advice and 
assurance in relation to its responsibilities for corporate governance. Clinical risks are 
reviewed and managed by the Quality Intelligence Group (QIG) . The group has no 
executive powers other than those specifically delegated by JLEB. 
 
The group is authorised by JLEB to: 
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 Ensure that there are appropriate mechanisms in place so that JLEB can be 
assured that the systems, policies and people in place are operating in a way that is 
effective, focussed on key risks and driving strategic objectives 

 Investigate any activities within its terms of reference and seek any information it 
may require from any employee 

 Obtain outside legal and other professional advice if it considers this necessary.  If 
this is the case the Chief Finance Officer must agree the expenditure involved or, in 
the case of any dispute, this will be decided upon by JLEB 

 
The GG produces reports on the risk management processes to provide assurance to the 
Audit Committee, where the Audit Committee deems this to be necessary.  The group 
closely liaises with and coordinates its work with the Audit Committee, to ensure that both 
financial and non-financial probity and assurance processes reach and maintain the 
highest standards of public service. 
 
The terms of reference for the GG were updated in August 2015 to state it would meet on 
a bi-monthly basis.  A total of six meetings of the GG were held during the period April 
2015 to March 2016; membership and attendance is as follows: 
 

Title Member Attendance 

Strategic Head of Corporate Affairs 
(Chair)     

Stephen Young                                 6/6 

Chief Operating Officer            Julie Ross 3/6 

Corporate Affairs Manager  Rachael Long  5/6 

North of England Commissioning 
Support Unit representative 

Governance Team   5/6 

 
Regular items on the agenda include: 
 

 Policy update report – Existing policies which have been reviewed and have only 
had minor changes can be approved by the GG.  Policies which are new, or existing 
policies with significant changes, can be approved by the GG but they must then be 
ratified by the JLEB.  This is in line with CO04 Policy for Development and Approval 
of Policies 

 Governance assurance report – This covers health and safety, equality and 
diversity, information governance, corporate incidents and statutory and mandatory 
training.  The report is produced quarterly 

 Assurance framework and corporate risk register – Both documents are reviewed at 
each meeting 

 Update on agreed actions from internal audit reports 

 

Quality Intelligence Group  

 
The principal function of the group is to assure the quality of commissioned services by: 
 

 Monitoring and examining the soft and hard intelligence relating to the quality of 
services provided 
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 Monitoring and examining data and intelligence relating to safeguarding of children 
and adults 

 Identifying areas of concern and good practice 

 Taking action where appropriate 

 Making recommendations for further action by the JLEB or individual directors 

 Providing assurance to the EPHQ that quality sits at the heart of everything the 
CCG does, and that its business is focussed on improving quality outcomes. 

 
In accordance with the terms of reference the QIG meets on a bi-monthly basis. A total of 
six meetings of the QIG were held during the period April 2015 to March 2016; 
membership and attendance is as follows: 
 

Title Member Attendance 

Director of Quality and Patient Safety 
(Chair)   

Annie Topping  4/6 

CCG GP Clinical Lead  Dr Marie Imlach                                4/6 

CCG Children’s Safeguarding Lead Margaret Tench 3/6 

CCG Designated Adults Safeguarding  
Manager                                                            

Fiona Kane                            
  

2/6 

Local Authority – 
Adult Safeguarding Lead 

Anna English 2/6 

Senior Manager for Clinical Quality Sara Hopkins 4/6 

Strategic Head of Corporate Affairs Stephen Young 3/6 

Public Health Services Manager Karen Rowell 5/6 

 
The key role of the QIG is to assure the delivery of safety, quality and performance from 
healthcare providers to the residents of Northumberland.  To underpin this work, QIG has 
implemented three work streams which report to each meeting of the group.  The work 
streams are on safeguarding, clinical risk and hospital and community acquired infections.  
As well as these work streams the group has focussed on mortality rates, commissioning 
for quality and innovation (CQUIN) developments, nursing care standards in care homes 
audit tool, falls/pressure ulcers, the management of serious untoward incidents and 
complaints.  
 

Medicines Optimisation Group  

 
The Medicines Optimisation Group (MOG) has been established as a sub-group of the 
JLEB. The group is responsible for ensuring that the CCG: 
 

 Is informed about prescribing performance and intervenes where appropriate to 
ensure high quality and cost effectiveness is maintained 

 Has sufficient competence to achieve and maintain authorisation 

 Maintains a presence on the relevant local medicines management groups 

 Has a robust medicines management vision and strategy 

 
The remit and responsibilities of the group are: 
 

 Providing CCG representation to enable the CCG to influence and contribute to the 
Area Prescribing Committee and its sub committees 
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 Reviewing data on prescribing performance relating to the CCG 

 Informing the JLEB of matters arising regarding cost, safety or quality relating to 
prescribing issues 

 Providing close liaison with the commissioning medicines manager to ensure that 
competencies have been assured for authorisation 

 Considering the commissioning priorities of the CCG and providing advice to the 
CCG on the implications of their commissioning priorities 

 Providing oversight of the commissioning support function and providing the ‘CCG 
contract management’ of the arrangements for medicines management 

 
In accordance with the terms of reference the MOG meets quarterly, with a minimum of 
three meetings per financial year.  A total of three meetings of the MOG were held during 
the period April 2015 to March 2016; membership and attendance is as follows:  
 

Title Member Attendance 

CCG Director for Prescribing (Chair) Dr Graham Syers  3/3 

CCG Prescribing Lead  Dr Peter McEvedy 3/3 

NECS - Senior Medicines 
Optimisation Pharmacist 

Helen Seymour 3/3 

NECS - Medicines Optimisation  
Pharmacist  

Susan Turner  3/3 

Head of Finance and Contracting  Gill Wainwright  3/3 

 
Over the past year the MOG has been involved in a number of work areas.  The group 
regularly monitors prescribing budgets, implements strategies to ensure cost effective 
prescribing and agrees the budget setting formula for practices.  The main mechanism for 
delivery in primary care is the Practice Medicines Management scheme and targets have 
been further developed for 2015/16.  The group has rolled out structured pharmacist 
medication reviews for care home patients to all four localities within the CCG following a 
successful pilot in the Blyth area and has implemented a waste management scheme.  
The group reviews the agenda and minutes of the Area Prescribing Committee (APC), 
Formulary Sub-committee and the Medicines Guidelines Group for consideration of 
matters requiring approval of the JLEB.  The group receives a regular activity report from 
the North of England Commissioning Support Unit (NECS) on prescribing and ensures 
appropriate action is taken to mitigate prescribing quality, safety and cost risk.   

The Clinical Commissioning Group Risk Management Framework 

 

Risk assessment  

 
Risk Management is embedded in the activity of the CCG through: 
 

 The Risk Management Policy and supporting policies and procedures 

 The Committee structures as described earlier 

 Management processes 

 The assurance framework 
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 Risk management skills training including both clinical risk assessments of various 
types and the mandatory and statutory training programme 

 Governing Body development sessions 

 The building of a counter fraud culture 

 
The CCG considered that it had an effective risk management approach in place as 
demonstrated by the risk management arrangements set out below.  
 
The risk management framework sets out how risk management will be implemented 
throughout the organisation to support the realisation of the strategic objectives.  This 
includes the processes and procedures adopted by the CCG to identify, assess and 
appropriately manage risks and detailed roles and responsibilities for risk management.    
 
The CCG employs a standardised methodology in the application of risk grading criteria, 
which helps to ensure a consistent approach to the prioritisation of risks and the effective 
targeting of resources.  As a result risk management is an important element of the CCG’s 
business planning processes. 
 
The Risk Management Policy - CCG CO14 V3 was initially approved by JLEB in April 
2013, and was subject to review in September 2013, November 2014 and February 2015.  
The risk management policy outlines: 
 

 The roles and responsibilities of the Governing Body, committees and JLEB in 
respect of risk management 

 The roles and responsibilities of officers for elements of risk management 

 Access to specialist advice 

 The risk management process in place within the CCG including the systematic 
identification, assessment, evaluation and control of risks via mechanisms such as 
the assurance framework and the corporate risk register 

 A description of risk management terms to ensure common understanding and full 
guidance on the risk analysis matrix for the grading of risk for priority  

 
Risk (and change in risk) identification is achieved primarily through the following 
processes: 
 

 Clinical and non-clinical risk assessment 

 Complaints management 

 Claims management 

 Performance and finance and contracting monitoring and reports 

 Incident reporting including serious and untoward incidents 

 Audits (both internal and those carried out by external bodies) 

 
The CCG receives regular updates on risk management arrangements and will receive the 
Risk Management Annual Report for 2015/16 in July 2016.  The corporate risk register 
was reviewed at the following committees/group during 2015/16: 
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Governing Body April 2015 

JLEB May 2015, August 2015, December 2015 

Audit Committee May 2015, July 2015, September 2015, 
January 2016  

Governance Group April 2015, June 2015, August 2015, 
November 2015, December 2015, January 
2016, March 2016 

 
 
The CCG has delegated responsibility for risk assurance to its JLEB.  JLEB is responsible 
for reviewing the effectiveness of internal controls and is required to produce statements of 
assurance around the management of risks, demonstrating that it organises the affairs of 
the organisation efficiently and effectively.  JLEB is supported in this by several 
committees and groups, including the Audit Committee, Governance Group, Quality 
Intelligence Group and the Medicines Optimisation Group.  
 
JLEB has overall responsibility for ensuring that robust systems are in place to manage 
risks and governance issues, including determining policy and reviewing the assurance 
framework and corporate risk register quarterly. 
 
The Audit Committee provides independent oversight of internal control arrangements in 
place within the CCG and has delegated responsibility from the Governing Body to ensure 
that the systems, policies and people are operating in a way that is effective, focussed on 
key risks and driving the objectives of the statutory organisation. 
 
The CCG endeavours to reduce risks to the lowest possible level reasonably practicable.  
Where risks cannot reasonably be avoided, every effort will be made to mitigate the 
remaining risk.  However there is the recognition that an understanding of the CCG’s ‘risk 
appetite’, will ensure the CCG supports a varied and diverse approach to commissioning, 
particularly for practices to work proactively to improve efficiency and value.    
 
The risk appetite of the CCG is specifically addressed in the Risk Management Policy. It is 
acknowledged that the majority of the executive are from a clinical background and, as 
clinicians, are used to the assessment and acceptance of risk.  This was felt to impact on 
the organisation’s tolerance to risk and therefore the executive agreed that the current 
matrix was valid and accurately reflected the appetite of the CCG.  Any risk with an overall 
risk rating of 12 or above included in the operational risk register is reported to JLEB 
quarterly. The risk matrix, as detailed in the approved Risk Management Policy is shown 
below: 
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Risk assessment matrix 

 
Scoring = Consequence x Likelihood (C x L)  
 
 Likelihood score 

Consequence 
score  

1  2  3  4  5  

 Rare  Unlikely  Possible  Likely  Almost certain  

5 Catastrophic  5  10  15  20  25  

4 Major  4  8  12  16  20  

3 Moderate  3  6  9  12  15  

2 Minor  2  4  6  8  10  

1 Negligible  1  2  3  4  5  

 
 
The JLEB set boundaries to guide staff on the limits of risk they are able to accept in the 
pursuit of achieving its organisational objectives.   
 
The JLEB sets these limits based on whether the risk is: 
 

 A threat: the level of exposure which is considered acceptable 

 An opportunity: what the JLEB is prepared to put ‘at risk’ in order to encourage 
innovation in creating changes 

 
The two main features of the risk management process are the assurance framework and 
risk registers. The CCG has adopted a bottom up approach to the generation of its risk 
registers.  The purpose is to ensure that risks are identified and managed at the 
appropriate level and to provide a mechanism of escalation through the tiers that alerts the 
Audit Committee and the JLEB of extreme and high risks. 
 
During 2015/16 an assurance framework has been in place, and this has been monitored 
by the relevant governance committees. The assurance framework and the corporate risk 
register for 2015/16 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, JLEB and Governing 
Body. The assurance framework covers all of the CCG’s main activities including financial, 
clinical and organisational activities and identifies the principal objectives and targets that 
the organisation is striving to achieve and the risks to the achievement of these targets. 
The framework identifies actions that need to be taken to address gaps in control and 
assurance and a small number have been identified. Each action has an identified lead 
and is monitored throughout the year by the JLEB.  
 
The CCG recognises that for any risk management strategy to work, potential and actual 
risks and incidents must be reported and action taken to prevent a recurrence. The 
Incident Reporting and Management Policy - CCG CO08 V2 March 2015 covers the 
reporting of all types of incidents, including near misses. Reporting of near misses where 
there has been no actual injury or loss may enable appropriate action to be taken to 
prevent future incidents. 
 
The CCG has a responsibility for managing risks identified in the commissioning process 
to ensure the quality of the services it commissions is safe and of a high standard.  The 
CCG has a responsibility to ensure their contractors have effective systems in place to 
identify and manage risks and incidents and support them in the development of these 
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where necessary.  The CCG acts as a conduit for information about such risks and 
incidents, to ensure that the learning (and the opportunities for risk reduction) from them is 
not lost within the CCG or the wider NHS.   
 
The CCG has an open and non-judgmental approach to the reporting of adverse incidents 
and encourages everyone within the organisation to contribute to the reporting and 
learning process.  The processes and procedures in the incident reporting and 
management policy are not designed to apportion blame, but focus on understanding the 
root cause of errors and learning from them to avoid a further reoccurrence. 
 
To help monitor and manage risks and incidents, the CCG has adopted the Safeguard 
Incident and Risk Management software system (SIRMS), which is compliant with the 
National Patient Safety Agency, National Reporting and Learning System and the NHS 
Security Management Services’ Security Incident Management System.  

 
The CCG approved the Equality Strategy for 2014/16 in November 2014 and this outlines 
our strategic direction to ensure compliance with the Public Sector Equality Duty and, 
highlights the national and local drivers that will shape and influence our approach.  It also 
sets out our commitment to taking equality and human rights into account in everything we 
do, whether that is commissioning services, employing people, developing policies, 
communicating, consulting or involving people in our work. The Equality Objectives Action 
Plan was approved by the JLEB and updates on progress against this are provided on a 
regular basis.  
   
Appendix 4 of the Policy for Development and Approval of Policies - CCG CO04 V5 
December 2014, outlines the requirement for every CCG policy to undergo an equality 
analysis screening, prior to approval.  
 
The CCG has an approved Communication and Engagement Strategy. This strategy sets 
out the CCG’s approach to how it intends to work towards its engagement vision, through 
effective communication and engagement with service users and the public, within the 
CCG and with healthcare partners. It explores innovative methods of communications and 
engagement, which help to develop effective relationships that provide accessible and 
meaningful opportunities to influence our decision-making processes and improve 
services, and build public confidence in the local NHS. The strategy has been 
implemented in accordance with our core values and describes how the CCG will ensure 
meaningful engagement with patients, carers and their communities and all other key 
stakeholders at all stages within the commissioning process. The strategy also looks at the 
way in which the CCG will communicate with, and involve all its constituent practices, and 
takes into account a range of responsibilities in relation to its role as a publicly accountable 
organisation. 
 
Two of the key objectives of the strategy are:  
 

 To ensure processes are in place for robust internal communications to facilitate a 
high level of engagement and awareness of the CCG and its vision and mission, 
leadership and governance arrangements with other internal audiences i.e. CCG 
staff, colleagues working in the commissioning support organisation, and other NHS 
partners 

 To ensure processes are in place for robust external communications to facilitate a 
high level of engagement and awareness of the CCG and its vision and mission, 
leadership and governance arrangements with external audiences i.e. 
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Northumberland County Council, the Health and Wellbeing Board, Healthwatch, 
community and voluntary sector, MPs and parliamentary questions 

 
The CCG Risk Management Policy also states that the CCG may establish partnership 
working relationships with other agencies, including but not limited to local authorities, the 
voluntary sector, police authorities, patient representatives and other CCGs.   

 
In some cases, these arrangements will be intended to manage and reduce risk across the 
wider health and social care economy, e.g. arrangements around safeguarding. However, 
in other cases the existence of joint working arrangements may pose challenges that need 
to be managed to ensure that objectives can be delivered.  Where such partnership 
arrangements exist, the CCG will ensure that it works closely and collaboratively with 
partners to ensure that risk management is fully integrated into joint working arrangements 
and to identify any risks that need to be captured and reported within the CCG’s internal 
processes.  The risk management process for partnerships is based on the CCG’s risk 
management strategy and risk management policy.  This is detailed in CO012 Policy and 
Framework for Partnership Governance V2 - May 2014.   

The Clinical Commissioning Group Internal Control Framework 

 
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the CCG to 
ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives.  It is designed to identify and prioritise 
the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should 
they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 
 
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than 
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness.  The system of internal control has been in place in the CCG for the year 
ending 31 March 2016 and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and Accounts. 
 
The CCG is satisfied that it has a robust internal control framework.  It has an established 
assurance framework which provides the mechanism to monitor risks, controls, and the 
outputs of its assurances processes and provides reasonable assurance there is an 
effective system of internal control to manage principal risks to achieving the CCG’s 
objectives.  This has been in place throughout the year and has been reviewed by the 
Audit Committee, JLEB and Governing Body. 
 
The system of internal control is underpinned by the existence of a number of individual 
controls that are in place: 
 

 Senior management/executive review 

 Policies and procedures covering important activities 

 Standing Financial Instructions and Scheme of Delegation 

 The checks and balances inherent in internal and external audit reviews 

 JLEB and Governing Body oversight 

 
In addition to management processes the CCG participates in the assurance process 
undertaken by NHS England; the outcome reports from these are presented to JLEB and 
the Governing Body. 
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The CCG has an internal audit function which has been in place throughout 2015/16.  An 
internal audit plan was drawn up and approved by the Audit Committee prior to the start of 
the financial year in March 2015.    
 
Robust anti-fraud arrangements are in place within the CCG.  An anti-fraud, bribery and 
corruption policy was approved by the JLEB in August 2013 and subsequently reviewed 
during 2014 and 2015.  This provides a framework for responding to suspicions of fraud, 
bribery and corruption, advice and information on various aspects of fraud, bribery and 
corruption and implications of an investigation.  An anti-fraud plan for 2015/16, which is 
aligned to fraud, bribery and corruption standards, was approved by the Audit Committee 
in July 2015.  Progress against the plan has been reported during the year to the Audit 
Committee.  Anti-fraud awareness training has been delivered to staff and members of the 
Governing Body and publicity material has been made available in practices.  No issues of 
fraud have been identified during the period April 2015 to the date of signing of this 
statement. 
 
The CCG has a Standards of Business Conduct Policy which was approved by JLEB in 
March 2015. The policy forms part of the CCG’s corporate governance framework, which 
requires it to issue guidance to members, officers and employees on the acceptance of 
gifts/hospitality and the declaration of interests.  The CCG is committed to ensuring the 
highest standards of professional and ethical conduct and this policy is intended to enable 
these standards to be met.  This policy enables the CCG to comply with the Standards of 
business conduct for NHS staff, Health service guidelines HSG (93)5, 1993, the 
Prevention of Corruption Acts 1906 and 1916, the Bribery Act 2010 and the Seven 
Principles of Public Life (The Nolan Principles). 
 

Information governance 

 
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by 
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal 
identifiable information.  The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an 
information governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to 
the CCG, other organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt with 
legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. 
 
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems 
and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information.  We have 
established an information governance management framework and are developing 
information governance processes and procedures in line with the information governance 
toolkit.  We have ensured all staff undertake annual information governance training and 
have implemented a staff information governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of 
their information governance roles and responsibilities. 
 
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents.  
We are developing information risk assessment and management procedures and a 
programme will be established to fully embed an information risk culture throughout the 
organisation against identified risks. 
 
The Information Governance agenda is considered at the Governance Group which 
reports to the JLEB. The CCG has also appointed a Caldicott Guardian and Senior 
Information Risk Owner. 
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The CCG has published the Health and Social Care Information Centre’s (HSCIC) 
Information Governance Toolkit and has self-assessed as being ‘Level 2 overall 
compliant’, which confirms the organisation’s rating as overall ‘satisfactory’ in this regard.   
 
NECS, as the provider of IT services to the CCG, has a range of controls in place.  Control 
objectives include: physical access, logical access, segregation of duties, data 
transmissions, data centre environmental controls, IT processing, data integrity and 
backups, change management procedures, network security measures, data migration, 
problem and incident resolution, system recovery and disaster recovery.  Assurance on 
the effectiveness of these controls is provided to the CCG through the ISAE 3204 report 
from NECS’ internal auditors Deloitte LLP. 
 
There are processes in place for incident reporting and this is reported to and monitored 
by the Governance Group as part of the governance assurance report provided by NECS.  
The Quality Intelligence Group has a specific remit to investigate serious incidents and 
monitor completion of the subsequent action plans.  We are developing information risk 
assessment and management procedures and a programme will be established to fully 
embed an information risk culture throughout the organisation. 

 

Risk assessment in relation to governance, risk management and internal 

control 

 
The CCG has adopted a standardised framework for the assessment and analysis of all 
risks encountered in the organisation and which is set out in the Risk Management Policy.   
 
Throughout the year the CCG identified and managed a range of risks, both strategic and 
operational.  
 
Reports to the committees/groups of the CCG also included information on new and 
emerging risks. The risk register and assurance framework will continue to be reviewed at 
the bi-monthly meetings of the Governance Group, on a quarterly basis by the JLEB as 
well as every second Audit Committee meeting. 
 
Each of the risks has a review date which has been set at a maximum of quarterly and the 
Safeguard Incident and Risk Management System (SIRMS) was used to monitor that the 
reviews and any planned actions had been done in accordance with set timescales. 
 

The high risks initially identified at the start of the financial year and 

considered by the Governing Body, JLEB, and Audit Committee are:  

 

Financial balance 

 

The CCG’s financial plan for 2015/16 could be adversely affected by contract over-
performance leading to a failure to achieve financial balance and a breach of statutory 
duty.  The risk is mitigated by a comprehensive system of financial controls and detailed 
financial reviews being undertaken on a monthly basis and reported to both JLEB and 
subsequently, on a bi-monthly basis, to the Resource and Performance Committee.  
Regular external assurance meetings also take place with NHS England, alongside 
monthly financial recovery meetings. 
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Achievement of nationally and locally agreed outcomes 

 
Providers may fail to meet their key patient outcomes compromising patient care and 
leading to loss of income from quality premium for the CCG. These risks are mitigated by 
having signed contracts in place with all providers and monitoring of such contracts, area 
team quarterly assurance meetings, quality review groups (QRG) in place, monitoring of 
quality of service in key providers and monitoring of achievement of quality premium 
measures.  Concerns have been identified with delivery of the service provided by North 
East Ambulance Service. Action plans have been agreed with the provider and these are 
closely monitored by the CCG through the monthly performance report to the JLEB and 
the quarterly JLEB report specific to the ambulance service. 
 

Provider delivery failure 

 
Providers may fail to continue as a going concern. The impact would be that the CCG may 
be unable to commission services locally with a consequent financial impact if alternative 
arrangements have to be made. This risk is mitigated by having signed contracts in place 
with providers, annual reports on providers are received from Monitor and quarterly 
assurance meetings are held with NHS England Area Team. Given the secure financial 
position of our main providers the risk is felt to be low in the first instance; mitigating 
actions reduce the risk further. 
 

Continuing healthcare activity 

 
High continuing healthcare (CHC) activity and cost may impact on the ability of the CCG to 
deliver the commissioning plan; quality and safety of services delivered could result in 
patients not receiving services they need; timeliness of the assessment process could 
result in gaps in service delivery to patients as well as restitution being due.  To mitigate 
the risks a formal partnership agreement is in place between the CCG and the local 
authority, a fixed budget has been allocated, nursing care assessment teams undertake 
the review of all potential CHC patients, announced and unannounced visits to providers 
are undertaken and complaints and incident data is reviewed by the Quality Intelligence 
Group and CHC panels review assessments.  The partnership is monitored through 
regular meetings between both parties, which consider a range of quality indicators and 
financial measures. Progress is reported at least annually to the JLEB and the Resource 
and Performance Committee. 
  

Safeguarding 

 
Where good clinical practice, policies and procedures in relation to safeguarding are not 
followed and there is ineffective multi-disciplinary and multi-agency working, there is a risk 
that the CCG will suffer adverse publicity and/or litigation and it may result in non-
compliance with statutory regulations. This may also be the case if there was a failure to 
implement recommendations from case reviews.  The CCG has robust safeguarding 
arrangements in place and its commissioning arrangements ensure that providers also 
have robust safeguarding measures in place including appropriate policies and 
procedures.  The CCG has dedicated resource in place for both adult and children’s 
safeguarding work. 
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Cost effective, high quality and safe prescribing  

 
There is a risk that poor quality prescribing or drug shortages could lead to patient safety 
and experience issues and unnecessary prescribing costs.  Imposed drug tariff changes 
could lead to unsustainable cost growth.  To mitigate these risks, a Medicines Optimisation 
Group led by a GP clinical lead, supported by senior pharmacists with links to Local 
Pharmaceutical Committee and commissioning support is in place.  The CCG has put in 
place a number of initiatives to reduce the likelihood of the risk including development of a 
practice medicines management service to ensure high quality and cost effective 
prescribing, a prescribing waste reduction scheme and carrying out pharmacist led 
medication reviews.  Although a number of controls are in place this remains a significantly 
high risk to the organisation because of the forecast cost growth in prescribing. 
 

Musculoskeletal (MSK) service 

 
There is a risk that over performance of the contract would result in an unexpected 
financial pressure for the CCG and non-achievement of the identified reduction in budget. 
To mitigate this risk, primary and secondary care policies have been developed in 
conjunction with the provider.  NHCFT has created a triage of patients referred to 
secondary care to ensure appropriate patient pathway has been followed, as the triage 
service does not cover all of the localities and the fact that the CCG does not have 
assurances that relevant policies are being complied with. 
 

Urgent care in primary care 

 
Enhanced and extended access to primary care may impact financially on the CCG. A 
number of controls are already in place to mitigate this including continuation of the GP out 
of hours service and community services in primary care.  The multi-agency primary care 
programme board was also established this year. 
 

Long term conditions management 

 
If the CCG does deliver adequate resource to long term conditions management, there is a 
risk this will result in unsustainable cost growth in urgent care. The CCG has a non-
elective gain-share agreement in place with the local provider which allows for investment 
in community services. A High Risk Patient Programme (HRPP) is also in place – this is a 
method of working to join up care across the health and social care system. It aims to 
deliver continuity and communication, less duplication and a patient-centred proactive 
approach, especially in managing our most vulnerable patients and/or those with long term 
conditions. It includes the population and management of a register, multidisciplinary team 
(MDT) reviews of these patients and assignment of a key worker to coordinate care.  

 

The high risks that emerged during the year and considered by the Governing 

Body, JLEB, and Audit Committee are: 

 

Northumberland Specialist Emergency Care Hospital (NSECH) 

 
NSECH opened in June 2015, during the year a shift in non-elective activity increasingly 
placed unsustainable in-year financial pressure on the CCG.  System-wide actions were 
identified and regular updates were provided to both the JLEB and the Resource and 
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Performance Committee.  The risk was unable to be mitigated in-year and contributed to 
the CCG’s overall financial position at the end of 2015/16. 
 

Primary care co-commissioning 

 
In April 2015 the CCG assumed responsibility for the joint-commissioning of primary 
medical care with NHS England.   NHS England subsequently issued revised guidance on 
effective management of conflicts of interest. In order to comply with the guidance the 
CCG will be required to: 
 

 Maintain up-to-date registers of interest 

 Maintain a register of procurement decisions 

 Be explicit about how non-compliance with local arrangements on managing 
conflicts of interest will be addressed 

 
If local arrangements on managing conflicts of interest are insufficiently robust, the CCG 
will be unable to confirm with NHS England that it has complied with the revised guidance.  
To mitigate the risk, a joint commissioning committee with NHS England was formed and 
all committee members completed new declarations of interest. The CCG’s conflicts of 
interest management has been assured throughout 2015/16 by both NHS England and the 
Audit Committee. 
 

Accountable Care Organisation 

 
There is a risk that the CCG will fail to appropriately engage member practices during the 
development of the Accountable Care Organisation (ACO) leading to practices being 
provided with insufficient information on which to make informed decisions.  To mitigate 
this, a comprehensive engagement programme has been initiated and regular update 
sessions are held via the Local Medical Committee forum.  The ACO is also discussed at 
Locality and Members Meetings. 
 

North East Ambulance Service  

 
There is a risk that the North East Ambulance Services (NEAS) contract under 
performance and the impact of increased activity on the Patient Transport Services 
associated with seven day working will lead to a failure to deliver key outcomes, which 
could result in patient care being compromised.  To mitigate this risk, a series of mediation 
meetings with NEAS has taken place and the CCG is closely monitoring NEAS 
performance targets.  The CCG is one of four regional leads with the Head of 
Commissioning actively involved at a regional level.  Five task and finish groups have 
been set up to address the five key areas in performance and quality and the CCG is 
working with all providers to identify gaps and action plans to mitigate risks. 

 

Commissioning for value 

 
There is a risk that failing to realise the efficiencies identified in the commissioning for 
value data pack will impact on the CCG Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention 
(QIPP) achievement.  To mitigate this risk, a joint long term conditions group with NHCFT 
has been established and a detailed work-plan has been developed. 
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CCG operating resilience 

 
A risk emerged that, in the early developmental and transitional stages of the ACO in 
Northumberland, insufficient oversight is maintained on the CCG’s business as usual, 
resulting in derogated operational performance.  CCG workloads have consequently been 
closely monitored and additional NECS support employed as required.  This risk remained 
a live issue at the end of 2015/16.  This risk will continue to be closely monitored 
throughout 2016/17.  
 

Risk of contract over-performance 

 
Contract over-performance was the single biggest financial risk faced by the CCG in 
2015/16.  Despite close monitoring and management of the two main contracts, over-
performance in the latter part of the year has meant the CCG has posted a deficit of 
£5.04m.  
 

The emerging high risks that will need to be considered by the Governing 

Body, JLEB and Audit Committee during the next year are:  

 

Achievement of the CCG’s 2016/17 financial recovery plan 

 
The main risks to be considered throughout 2016/17 are associated with the delivery of the 
CCG financial recovery plan.  The CCG has been set a challenging QIPP target for 
2016/17 in order to achieve financial balance.  To mitigate this risk, a comprehensive 
financial recovery plan has been developed which will be overseen by a newly set up 
Programme Management Office.  Early in 2016/17 a full capacity and demand analysis will 
be undertaken of CCG roles and tasks.  Any additional resource required to deliver the 
CCG’s overall outputs in 2016/17 will be requisitioned.  

 

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources 

 
The CCG has delegated approval of a comprehensive system of internal control, including 
budgetary control that underpins the effective, efficient and economic operation of the 
CCG, to the Governing Body.  The Chief Clinical Officer is held to account for ensuring 
that the CCG discharges this duty and provides assurance to the Governing Body.  The 
Governing Body in providing assurance that the CCG is acting consistently with this duty is 
supported by the following committees: 
 
Audit Committee – Provides the Governing Body with an independent and objective view 
of the CCG’s financial systems, financial information and compliance with laws, regulations 
and directions governing the CCG in so far as they relate to finance.  The internal audit 
service further supports the audit committee by evaluating and reporting on the 
effectiveness and adherence to the systems of internal controls that the CCG has in place. 
  
Appointments and Remuneration Committee – Makes recommendations to the 
Governing Body on determinations about the remuneration, fees and other allowances for 
employees and for people who provide services to the CCG and on determination about 
allowances under any pension scheme that the CCG may establish as an alternative to the 
NHS pension scheme. 
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Resources and Performance Committee – Provides assurance to the Governing Body 
in relation to the CCG’s duty to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and 
economically, and in relation to the CCG’s performance.    
 
Delivery of the financial plan has been delegated by the JLEB to the Chief Finance Officer, 
who is the Governing Body’s professional expert on finance and ensures, through robust 
systems and processes, the regularity and propriety of expenditure is fully discharged.   
 
The Chief Finance Officer is also responsible for: 
 

 Making arrangements to support, monitor and report on the CCG’s finances 

 Overseeing robust audit and governance arrangements leading to propriety in the 
use of CCG resources 

 Advising the Governing Body on the effective, efficient and economic use of its 
allocation to remain within that allocation and deliver required financial targets and 
duties 

 Producing the financial statements for audit and publication in accordance with 
statutory requirements to demonstrate effective stewardship of public money and 
accountability to tax payers 

 Overseeing all financial systems and internal controls, including the development 
and modification of accounting systems 

 Maintaining relationships with external professional advisors 

 Managing relationships with internal and external audit functions and playing a 
leading role in liaison with any regulatory bodies 

 
The CCG has a responsibility to ensure its expenditure does not exceed the aggregate of 
its allotments for the financial year.  This responsibility has been delegated to the JLEB 
who approve the rolling three year financial plan, setting out the deployment of resources 
within allocations and the approach to delivery and risk mitigation.  The JLEB also 
approves and reviews the CCG’s Scheme of Delegation and Standing Financial 
Instructions (SFIs).  The JLEB is held to account for the monitoring and overall delivery of 
financial performance and compliance with SFIs.   
 
The duty to ensure expenditure did not exceed income was the greatest risk experienced 
by the CCG in the latter half of 2015/16.  In 2014/15 a £304K surplus was recorded, 
despite an underlying deficit position which has been steadily improved year on year.  In 
2015/16 the closing position was a deficit of £5.04m, despite close monitoring and 
measures to manage financial pressures.  The CCG fully recognises its financial position 
for 2015/16 and has implemented a comprehensive financial recovery plan for 2016/17 
and beyond.    

 

Review of the effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management and Internal 

Control 

 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system 
of internal control within the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). 
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Capacity to handle risk  

 
The CCG is committed to providing high quality services in a safe and secure 
environment. The CCG offers leadership on risk management through a clear Risk 
Management Policy. This was approved by the JLEB in February 2013 and was subject to 
review in September 2013, November 2014 and February 2015.  
 
The CCG employs a range of specialists to lead on the implementation of the risk 
management policy. These include the Strategic Head of Corporate Affairs, the Corporate 
Affairs Manager and the Corporate Risk and Assurance team in NECS.  Officers and 
senior managers have corporate responsibility for risk management and are responsible 
for taking a lead on risk management in their particular areas.  For example the Chief 
Finance Officer takes a lead on finance risks including counter fraud, estates, information 
management and technology and information governance risks. 
 
The risk management arrangements within the CCG have been developed through, and 
with the full involvement of, the Governing Body, the JLEB and Audit Committee. Board 
level leadership and responsibility for risk management is clearly defined in the CCG Risk 
Management Policy and there are clear lines of accountability for managing risk 
throughout the CCG leading to the JLEB. 
 
As Accountable Officer, I have overall responsibility for risk management and report 
directly to the JLEB. Specific responsibilities are also delegated to executive lead 
directors, including the Chief Operating Officer and the Director of Quality and Patient 
Safety.   
 
The CCG supports an open and honest approach to risk and incident reporting with the 
overriding emphasis on solving and learning from problems and not attributing blame. Risk 
management awareness training is included in the staff induction and mandatory training 
sessions and there is a rolling programme of risk management training. All staff have 
access to the risk management policy, which is posted on the CCG website and staff are 
actively encouraged to report incidents, accidents and near misses via the incident 
reporting system. 
 
Sharing the learning through risk related issues and incidents is an essential component to 
maintaining the risk management culture within the CCG. Learning is shared through 
locality governance structures and the governance committees/groups of the CCG.  
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Review of Effectiveness 

 
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of 
the internal auditors and the executive managers and clinical leads within the CCG who 
have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework. 
I have drawn on performance information available to me. My review is also informed by 
comments made by the external auditors in their management letter and other reports. 
 
The Board assurance framework itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of 
controls that manage risks to the CCG achieving its principle objectives have been 
reviewed. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit Opinion provides me with an opinion on the overall 
arrangements for gaining assurance through the assurance framework and on the controls 
reviewed as part of internal audit’s work.  The Head of Internal Audit Opinion concluded 
that the CCG can rely on the framework as providing it with reasonably accurate 
statements about the principal controls and assurances on controls in relation to the 
identified risks and objectives in the framework. 
 
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of 
the system of internal control by the Governing Body, the Audit Committee and the JLEB 
and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in 
place. 
 
The following arrangements highlight how the JLEB assures itself that the system of 
internal control is effective. 
 

The Joint Locality Executive Board  

 
Board agendas during the year were structured around the key risks and issues. The 
Board has reviewed the governance framework to ensure it is fit for purpose and approved 
a new framework, Committee and Sub-committee structures and refreshed and enhanced 
Standing Orders, Standing Financial Instructions and Scheme of Delegation. 
 

The Audit Committee  

 
The Annual Internal Audit Plan, as approved by the Audit Committee, enables the Board to 
be reassured that key internal financial controls and other matters relating to risk are 
regularly reviewed. The Committee has reviewed internal and external audit reports, and 
reviewed progress on meeting the requirements of the assurance framework.  
 

The Chief Operating Officer 

 
The Chief Operating Officer (COO) is the executive lead for risk management and 
governance.  The COO is a member of the JLEB and the Governing Body and attends the 
Appointments and Remuneration Committee and the Resources and Performance 
Committee. 
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The Director of Quality and Patient Safety 

 
The Director of Quality and Patient Safety is the executive lead director for clinical 
governance and quality and is a member of the JLEB and attends the Engagement, Public 
Health and Quality Committee and Chairs the Quality Intelligence Group.  
 

The Strategic Head of Corporate Affairs 

 
The Strategic Head of Corporate Affairs leads on the implementation of corporate 
governance and risk assurance systems across the CCG and the management of risk 
associated with corporate governance, information requests and business continuity.  The 
Strategic Head of Corporate Affairs attends the JLEB, Governing Body, Audit Committee, 
Resources and Performance Committee, the Engagement, Public Health and Quality 
Committee, is a member of the Quality Intelligence Group and the Chairs the Governance 
Group.  

Internal Audit 

 
During the year the CCG used Northern Internal Audit and Fraud Service as providers of 
internal audit services. The contract and associated internal audit plan specify that the 
delivery of the internal audit function will continue to be in compliance with the Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards.  
  
Some of the key areas included in the internal audit plan were around risk management 
arrangements, governance structures, patient and public and clinical engagement, 
partnership arrangements, commissioning arrangements and performance management.  
All planned audits were completed to time. 
 

External systems and business processes 

 
The CCG currently contracts with a number of external organisations for the provision of 
back office services and functions.  These include: 
 

 The provision of Oracle financial system and financial accounting support from NHS 
Shared Business Services (SBS).  The use of SBS is mandated by NHS England 
for all CCGs and is fundamental in producing NHS England group financial 
accounts through the use of an integrated financial ledger system 

 The provision of core business services from the North of England Commissioning 
Support Unit (NECS) 

 The provision of payroll services from Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation 
Trust 

 The provision of the Electronic Staff Record (ESR) payroll systems support from 
McKesson 

 The provision of prescribing spend reporting by NHS Business Services Authority 
(BSA) 

 
Assurances on the effectiveness of the controls in place for the above are received in part 
from an annual Service Audit Report from the relevant service providers as well as 
additional testing of controls that has been undertaken by the CCG’s internal auditors.   
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Assurances received for these services are as follows:  
 

NHS Shared Business Services (SBS) 

 
Assurances on NHS SBS are provided by their internal auditors, Grant Thornton UK LLP.  
The opinion provided in their independent service auditor’s report is: 
 

 The description fairly presents the core services provided to clients throughout the 
period 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016  

 The controls related to the control objectives stated in the description were suitably 
designed to provide reasonable assurance that the control objectives would be 
achieved if the controls operated effectively throughout the period 1 April 2015 to 31 
March 2016  

 The controls tested, which were those necessary to provide reasonable assurance 
that the control objectives stated in the description were achieved, operated 
effectively throughout the period 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016 

 

North of England Commissioning Support Service  

 
The CCG has outsourced a range of support services to the NECS, hosted by NHS 
England.  Assurances on the operation of these services during 2015/16 are provided by 
NHS England’s internal auditors, Deloitte LLP, via means of two IASE 3402 reports 
covering the period 1 April 2015 to 29 February 2016 and a bridge letter covering the 
period 1 March to 31 March 2016.     
 
The first report, covering the period from 1 October 2014 to 30 September 2015 was 
issued in December 2015 and the second report, covering the period 1 October 2015 to 29 
February 2016 was issued in April 2016.  The bridge letter was issued on 29 April 2016 
and covered the period 1 March to 31 March 2016.  There were some minor weaknesses 
in the operation of 12 controls identified in the first report and 28 controls identified in the 
second report. 
 
Assurances have been received that actions have been taken to address these minor 
weaknesses or an action plan is in place to ensure they are addressed. 
 
The opinion provided by Deloitte in their independent auditor’s report is: 
 

 The report describes fairly the control procedures that relate to the control 
objectives referred to above which were in place as at 29 February 2016  

 The control procedures described are suitably designed such that there is 
reasonable assurance that the specified control objectives would be achieved if the 
described control procedures were complied with satisfactorily; and  

 The control procedures described were operating with sufficient effectiveness to 
provide reasonable assurance that the related control objectives were achieved 
during the specified period.  
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Payroll 

 
The payroll assurance letter for 2015/16 reports significant assurance with no issues of 
note. 
 

ESR 

 
Assurances on ESR are provided by their internal auditors, PriceWaterhouseCoopers LLP.  
The opinion provided in their independent services auditor’s report is: 
 

 The description fairly presents the IT general controls for the Electronic Staff 
Record (ESR) service that were designed and implemented throughout the period 
from 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016 

 The controls related to the control objectives stated in the description were suitably 
designed to provide reasonable assurance that the specified control objectives 
would be achieved if the described controls operated effectively throughout the 
period from 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016 and customers applied the 
complementary customer controls referred to in the scope paragraph of this report 

 The controls tested, which together with the complementary customer controls 
referred to in the scope paragraph of this report, if operating effectively, were those 
necessary to provide reasonable assurance that the control objectives stated in the 
description were achieved, operated effectively throughout the period from 1 April 
2015 to 31 March 2016 

 
NHS Business Services Authority (BSA) 

 
BSA assurances were provided by NHS BSA:  Prescriptions Payments Process report for 
2015/16, which stated:  “In our opinion, in all material respects, based on the criteria 
described in the Service Organisation’s and the included Subservice Organisation’s 
management statements on pages 5 to 7: 
 

 The description on pages 21 to 33 fairly presents the Service Organisation’s and 
the included Subservice Organisation’s prescription payment processes as 
designed and implemented throughout the period from 1 April 2015 to 31 March 
2016 

 The controls related to the control objectives stated in the description were suitably 
designed to provide reasonable assurance that the specified control objectives 
would be achieved if the described controls operated effectively throughout the 
period from 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016 and customers applied the 
complementary user entity controls referred to in the scope paragraph of this 
assurance report; and 

 The controls tested which, together with the complementary user entity controls 
referred to in the scope paragraph of this assurance report, if operating effectively, 
were those necessary to provide reasonable assurance that the control objectives 
stated in the description were achieved, operated effectively throughout the period 
from 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016” 
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Review of Constitution 

 
The CCG has a constitution which is fully compliant with the legislation under the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012, which was in place at the time of authorisation and was 
approved by its members.  The constitution sets out the way in which the CCG will operate 
and was subject to review during 2014/15.  Changes were approved by the Governing 
Body in December 2014.  Members were notified of the changes to the constitution at the 
Members Meeting in March 2015.  The changes to the constitution were approved by NHS 
England in March 2015.  Further changes were made to the constitution in March 2016 to 
reflect delegated commissioning arrangements. 

 
Data Quality 

 
The CCG has a Data Quality Policy - CCG IG02, which was initially approved by the JLEB 
in January 2013 and was subject to review during 2014, 2015 and 2016.  The CCG 
recognises that all of their decisions, whether healthcare, managerial or financial, need to 
be based on information which is of the highest quality.  Data quality is crucial and the 
availability of complete, accurate, relevant and timely data is important in supporting 
patient/service user care, governance, management and service agreements for 
healthcare planning and accountability.  The Governing Body and member practices are 
satisfied with the quality of data used to inform decision making and planning to deliver the 
commissioning agenda and to ensure the CCG meets its statutory requirements.  
  

Business Critical Models 

  
I can confirm that an appropriate framework and environment is in place to provide quality 
assurance of business critical models, in line with the recommendations in the 
Macpherson report. 
  
I can confirm that all business critical models have been identified and that information 
about quality assurance processes for those models has been provided to the Analytical 
Oversight Committee, chaired by the Chief Analyst in the Department of Health.  
 
The CCG has a Business Continuity Management Plan, approved by the JLEB in 
December 2013 and reviewed in 2014 and 2015.  
 

Data Security 

 
The CCG has an Information Governance Framework in place comprising an approved 
strategy, a suite of approved policies and procedures, a programme of mandatory training, 
information risk management, incident management and has also adopted and 
implemented the HSCIC, ‘Checklist for Reporting, Managing and Investigating Information 
Governance Serious Incidents Requiring Investigating’.  
 
The organisation has in place a standard operating procedure for the reporting of Level 2 
information governance incidents to the Information Commissioner. This procedure 
outlines the scope of responsibilities and details the reporting procedures to be used in the 
event of a data security breach.  There have been no information governance serious 
breaches in-year. 
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The information governance agenda is heard at the Governance Group which reports to 
JLEB. The CCG has also appointed a Caldicott Guardian and Senior Information Risk 
Owner. 
  
The Information Governance Toolkit has been provided by the HSCIC to support 
performance monitoring of progress on Information Governance in the NHS.  The CCG 
has published the HSCIC Information Governance Toolkit and has self-assessed as being 
Level 2, Satisfactory for Version 12 (2014/15).  
  
The CCG complies with its statutory duty to respond to requests for information. During the 
year the CCG received 235 requests under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and no 
requests under the Data Protection Act 1998.  All of the requests were responded to within 
the statutory timescales with no breaches. 
 

Discharge of Statutory Functions 

  
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained within the 
Corporate Governance Framework were developed with extensive expert external legal 
input, to ensure compliance with all the relevant legislation.  That legal advice also 
informed the matters reserved for the Membership Body and Governing Body decision and 
the Scheme of Delegation. 
 
In light of the Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers 
conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other 
associated legislation and regulations.  As a result, I can confirm that the CCG is clear 
about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which 
it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions. 
 
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.  
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and 
capacity to undertake all of the CCG’s statutory duties. 

 

Head of Internal Audit Opinion 

 
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the CCG, the 
Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the CCG’s system of risk management, governance and internal control. 
The Head of Internal Audit concluded that: 
 

1. Overall opinion 
2. Basis for the opinion 
3. Commentary 

 
My overall opinion is that significant assurance can be given that there is a generally 
sound system of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that 
controls are generally being applied consistently. Some weakness in the design and/or 
inconsistent application of controls may put the achievement of particular objectives at risk; 
however, no risks have been identified with an impact rating above moderate.  
 
The basis for forming my opinion is as follows: 
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1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning assurance 
framework and supporting processes 

 
2. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from audit assignments, 

contained within internal audit risk-based plans that have been reported 
throughout the year. This assessment has taken account of the relative materiality 
of these areas and management’s progress in respect of addressing control 
weaknesses 

 

Conclusion  

 
During the year, Internal Audit did not issue any audit reports which identified governance, 
risk management and/or control issues which were significant to the organisation. 
 
Now in our third year of full CCG operations, I consider that the internal control structure is 
fully embedded in CCG daily business and has done much to ensure that we have 
achieved our overarching aims and objectives.  This has been evidenced by our 
successful Internal Audit outcomes throughout 2015/16. 
  
Notwithstanding, there remains no room for complacency and, although my review 
confirms that we are fully compliant in this area, I will ensure that the CCG governance 
continues to react swiftly to future policy changes and embeds an ethos of continuous 
improvement where possible. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dr Alistair Blair 
Chief Clinical Officer (Accountable Officer) 
25 May 2016  



NHS Northumberland Clinical Commissioning Group annual report and accounts 2015/16 

Page 79 of 96 
 

Remuneration and staff report 

 

For the purpose of this remuneration report, the definition of “senior managers” is as per 
the CCG Annual Reporting Guidance published by NHS England: 
 
“Those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or 
controlling the major activities of the clinical commissioning group.  This means those who 
influence the decisions of the clinical commissioning group as a whole rather than the 
decisions of individual directorates or departments. Such persons will include advisory and 
lay members.” 
 
It is considered that the Governing Body members and Joint Locality Board members 
represent the senior managers of the CCG.  
 
The members of the Governing Body and Joint Locality Board were all appointed through 
a robust recruitment interview process which was in line with the CCG’s Constitution and 
were in post prior to 1 April 2013.  All posts may be terminated by mutual agreement, 
resignation or dismissal in line with the CCG’s Constitution.  Details of post terms and 
notice periods are: 
 

Role     Initial Term*   Notice Period 

Governing Body 

Lay CCG Chair   3 years   3 months 

Lay Governor – Resources 

and performance   1 year    3 months 

Lay Governor – Patient and 

public involvement   2 years   3 months 

Lay Governor – Audit and 

conflict of interest   3 years   3 months 

Governing Body Nurse  3 years   3 months 

Governing Body Doctor  3 years   3 months 

Chief Clinical Officer  1 year + 3 years  3 months 

Chief Operating Officer  permanent post  6 months 

Chief Finance Officer  permanent post  6 months 

Locality Director/Business 

Director (1 post)   1 year    6 months 

(this is the term of office for the Locality Director on the Governing Body only.  The 

individual’s actual term of office is outlined below) 

 

Joint Locality Board 

Chief Clinical Officer (Chair) 1 year + 3 years  6 months 

Chief Operating Officer  permanent post  6 months 

Chief Finance Officer  permanent post  6 months 

Locality Director (4 posts)  1 year + up to 3 years 6 months 

Business Director (1 post)  1 year + up to 3 years 6 months 

Transformation Director  permanent post  6 months 
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* With the exception of permanent appointments, each appointment is eligible for 
reappointment for up to two additional terms of 3 years each. 

Remuneration policy 

 
Remuneration for the lay governors (including Chair), governing body nurse and governing 
body secondary care doctor is discussed and voted for by the members of the CCG at the 
members’ meetings. 
 
Remuneration for the posts of Chief Clinical Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Finance 
Officer, Locality Directors, Business Directors and Transformation Director is agreed by 
the members of the CCG’s Appointments & Remuneration Committee.   
 
The Governing Body has an established Appointments & Remuneration Committee; its 
membership comprises the Lay CCG Chair (who chairs the Committee) and all other Lay 
Governors.  The principal function of the Appointments and Remuneration Committee is to 
advise the Governing Body on senior appointments, about appropriate remuneration and 
terms of service, and determine the remuneration and terms of service of members of the 
Joint Locality Executive Board and other staff directly accountable to the Chief Clinical 
Officer or Chief Operating Officer. 
 
The Chief Clinical Officer is the lead officer for the committee and is invited to attend all 
meetings but withdraws from discussions relating to his own remuneration.  Other officers, 
employees, and practice representatives of the group are invited to attend all or part of 
meetings of the committee to provide advice or support particular discussion from time to 
time. They are not in attendance for discussions about their own remuneration or terms of 
service.  Declarations of interest are made at the start of every meeting. 
 
An annual salary review is undertaken to determine whether an annual uplift should be 
awarded and if so the level of the uplift. In making this decision, the Appointments & 
Remuneration Committee takes into consideration a number of factors including the level 
of pay awards made nationally to other staff groups within the NHS as well as NHS 
England guidance and the affordability to the organisation. 
 
Performance evaluation of the Chief Clinical Officer will be undertaken by the Lay CCG 
Chair and the Area Team Director.  The Lay CCG Chair also undertakes performance 
evaluation of other lay governors including the governing body nurse and governing body 
secondary care doctor. 
 
Performance evaluation of the Chief Operating Officer is undertaken by the Chief Clinical 
Officer and the Lay CCG Chair.  The Chief Clinical Officer also undertakes the 
performance evaluation of the locality directors and the business directors.  The Chief 
Operating Officer then undertakes performance evaluation of the Chief Finance Officer 
and the Transformation Director. 
  
No element of remuneration is subject to performance conditions. 
 
The CCG currently has no provision for compensation for early termination or early 
retirement.  Comparative information for the prior year is disclosed in the tables on the 
following pages.  
 
All Pensions related benefit figures are received from NHS Pensions. 



Single total figure remuneration table 

 

Table 1: Northumberland CCG remuneration report 2015/16 (this has been subjected to audit) 

Name Title Salary 
 
 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Expenses 
payments 

 
(taxable) to 

nearest £100 
£00 

Performance pay 
and bonuses 

 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Long-term 
performance pay 

and bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

All pension 
related benefits 

 
(bands of 
£2,500) 

£000 

Total 
 
 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Janet Guy Lay Chair 10-15 - - - - 10-15 

Jacqui 
Henderson 

Lay Chair 0-5 - - - - 0-5 

Peter Atkinson Lay Governor 5-10 - - - - 5-10 

Karen Bower  Lay Governor 5-10 - - - - 5-10 

Steve Brazier Lay Governor 5-10 - - - - 5-10 

Dr Paul Crook Secondary Care 
Doctor 

5-10 - - - - 5-10 

Dr John 
Unsworth 

Governing Body 
Nurse 

5-10 - - - - 5-10 

Dr Alistair Blair Chief Clinical 
Officer 

100-105 34 - - 50-52.5 155-160 

Julie Ross Chief Operating 
Officer 

115-120 - - - 100-102.5 220-225 

Rob Robertson Chief Finance 
Officer 

95-100 - - - 45-47.5 145-150 

Siobhan Brown Transformation 
Director 

80-85 - - - - 80-85 

Annie Topping Director of Quality 
& Patient Safety 

70-75 - - - 165-167.5 235-240 

Hilary Brown Locality Director 35-40 32 - - - 35-40 

Dr Eileen 
Higgins 

Locality Director 10-15 - - - - 10-15 

Dr Frances 
Naylor 

Locality Director 45-50 - - - 5-7.5 55-60 

Dr David Shovlin Locality Director 45-50 - - - 242.5-245 290-295 
 



NHS Northumberland Clinical Commissioning Group annual report and accounts 2015/16 

Page 82 of 96 
 

Name Title Salary 
 
 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Expenses 
payments 

 
(taxable) to 

nearest £100 
£00 

Performance pay 
and bonuses 

 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Long-term 
performance pay 

and bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

All pension 
related benefits 

 
(bands of 
£2,500) 

£000 

Total 
 
 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Dr Graham 
Syers 

Locality Director 15-20 - - - - 15-20 

Dr John 
Warrington 

Business Director 55-60 - - - 285-287.5 340-345 

 

Expenses payments (taxable) are shown in £00 and relate to lease cars. 

 

All pensions related benefits information is provided by NHS Pensions.  

 

Janet Guy commenced her role on 1 June 2015. 

 

Jacqui Henderson left her role on 31 May 2015. 

 



Table 2: Northumberland CCG remuneration report 2014/15 (this has been subjected to audit) 

Name Title Salary 
 
 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Expenses 
payments 

 
(taxable) to 

nearest £100 
£00 

Performance pay 
and bonuses 

 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Long-term 
performance pay 

and bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

All pension 
related benefits 

 
(bands of 
£2,500) 

£000 

Total 
 
 

(bands of 
£,5000) 

£000 

Janet Guy Lay Chair - - - - - - 

Jacqui 
Henderson 

Lay Chair 10-15 - - - - 10-15 

Peter Atkinson Lay Governor 5-10 - - - - 5-10 

Karen Bower  Lay Governor 5-10 - - - - 5-10 

Steve Brazier Lay Governor 5-10 - - - - 5-10 

Dr Paul Crook Secondary Care 
Doctor 

5-10 - - - - 5-10 

Dr John 
Unsworth 

Governing Body 
Nurse 

5-10 - - - - 5-10 

Dr Alistair Blair Chief Clinical 
Officer 

85-90 28 - - 80-82.5 170-175 

Julie Ross Chief Operating 
Officer 

100-105 3 - - 7.5-10 105-110 

Rob Robertson Chief Finance 
Officer 

90-95 - - - 22.5-25 115-120 

Siobhan Brown Transformation 
Director 

80-85 - - - 12.5-15 90-95 

Annie Topping Director of Quality 
& Patient Safety 

- - - - - - 

Hilary Brown Locality Director 35-40 25 - - - 35 - 40 

Dr Eileen 
Higgins 

Locality Director 45-50 - - - 0-2.5 50-55 

Dr Robin 
Hudson 

Director of Quality 45-50 - - - - 45-50 

Dr Frances 
Naylor 

Locality Director 45-50 - - - - 45-50 

Dr David Shovlin Locality Director 60-65 - - - - 60-65 
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Name Title Salary 
 
 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Expenses 
payments 

 
(taxable) to 

nearest £100 
£00 

Performance pay 
and bonuses 

 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Long-term 
performance pay 

and bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

All pension 
related benefits 

 
(bands of 
£2,500) 

£000 

Total 
 
 

(bands of 
£,5000) 

£000 

Dr Graham 
Syers 

Locality Director 15 - 20 - - - - 15- 20 

Dr John 
Warrington 

Business Director 60-65 - - - - 60-65 

 

Expenses payments (taxable) are shown in £00 and relate to lease cars. 

 

All pensions related benefits information is provided by NHS Pensions.  

 

Janet Guy commenced her role on 1 June 2015. 

 

Jacqui Henderson left her role on 31 May 2015. 



Pensions entitlement table 

 

Table 3: Northumberland CCG senior officers pension benefits 2015/16 (this has been subjected to audit) 

Name Title Real 
increase in 
pension at 

pension age 
 
 
 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

£000 

Real 
increase in 

pension 
lump sum at 
pension age 

 
 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

£000 

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
pension age 
at 31 March 

2016 
 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Lump sum 
at pension 
age related 
to accrued 
pension at 
31 march 

2016 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 1 
April 2015 

 
 
 
 

£000 

Real 
Increase in 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value 
 
 
 

£000 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 31 
March 2016 

 
 
 
 

£000 

Employer's 
contribution 

to stakeholder 
pension 

 
 
 
 
 

£000 

Dr Alistair 
Blair 

Chief Clinical 
Officer 

2.5-5 2.5-5 10-15 35-40 176 42 218 15 

Julie Ross Chief 
Operating 
Officer 

5-7.5 7.5-10 20-25 60-65 254 70 324 17 

Rob 
Robertson 

Chief Finance 
Officer 

2.5-5 2.5-5 20-25 60-65 264 28 292 14 

Siobhan 
Brown 

Transformation 
Director 

- - 0-5 5-10 92 16 109 12 

Annie 
Topping 

Director of 
Quality & 
Patient Safety 

5-7.5 20-22.5 20-25 70-75 316 144 476 10 

Hilary 
Brown 

Locality 
Director 

- - - - - - - - 

Dr Eileen 
Higgins 

Locality 
Director 

- - 0-5 5-10 157 - 42 2 

Dr Frances 
Naylor 

Locality 
Director 

0-2.5 - 5-10 25-30 145 9 153 7 

Dr David 
Shovlin 

Locality 
Director  

10-12.5 27.5-30 10-15 30-35 - 142 155 6 

Dr John 
Warrington 

Business 
Director 

10-12.5 32.5-35 10-15 35-40 - 162 177 7 

Pension information is provided by NHS Pensions 

Cash equivalent transfer value at 1 April 2015 has been inflated by 1.2%.  
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Table 4: Northumberland CCG senior officers pension benefits 2014/15 (this has been subjected to audit) 

Name Title Real 
increase in 
pension at 
pension age 
 
 
 
(bands of 
£2,500) 
£000 

Real 
increase in 
pension 
lump sum at 
pension age 
 
 
(bands of 
£2,500) 
£000 

Total 
accrued 
pension at 
pension age 
at 31 March 
2015 
 
(bands of 
£5,000) 
£000 

Lump sum 
at pension 
age related 
to accrued 
pension at 
31 march 
2015 
(bands of 
£5,000) 
£000 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 1 
April 2014 

Real 
Increase in 
Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 31 
March 2015 

Employer's 
contribution 
to stakeholder 
pension 
 

Dr Alistair 
Blair 

Chief Clinical 
Officer 

2.5-5 12.5-15 10-15 30-35 102 69 174 12 

Julie Ross Chief 
Operating 
Officer 

0-2.5 2.5-5 15-20 50-55 225 21 251 14 

Rob 
Robertson 

Chief Finance 
Officer 

0-2.5 2.5-5 15-20 55-60 228 27 261 13 

Siobhan 
Brown 

Transformation 
Director 

0-2.5 
 

- 5-10 5-10 74 15 91 11 

Annie 
Topping 

Director of 
Quality & 
Patient Safety 

- - - - - - - - 

Hilary 
Brown 

Locality 
Director 

- - - - - - - - 

Dr Eileen 
Higgins 

Locality 
Director 

0-2.5 0-2.5 5-10 20-25 139 12 155 7 

Dr Frances 
Naylor 

Locality 
Director 

0-2.5 0-2.5 
 

5-10 25-30 134 5 143 7 

Dr David 
Shovlin 

Locality 
Director 

- - - - - - - - 

Dr John 
Warrington 

Business 
Director 

- - - - - - - - 

 

Pension information is provided by NHS Pensions.  



Cash equivalent transfer values 

 

A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the 
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits 
valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable 
from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to 
secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member 
leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefit accrued in their former scheme. The 
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a 
consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a 
senior capacity to which disclosure applies. The CETV figures and the other pension 
details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which 
the individual has transferred to the NHS Pension Scheme. They also include any 
additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional 
years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the 
guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.  
 
On 16 March 2016, the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced a change in the 
Superannuation Contributions Adjusted for Past Experience (SCAPE) discount rate from 
3.0% to 2.8%.  This rate affects the calculation of CETV figures in this report. 
 
Due to the lead time required to perform calculations and prepare annual reports, the 
CETV figures quoted in this report for members of the NHS pension scheme are based on 
the previous discount rate and have not been recalculated. 

 

Real increase in cash equivalent transfer values  

 

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of 
the increase in accrued pension due to inflation and uses common market valuation 
factors for the start and end of the period. 

 

Compensation on early retirement or for loss of office 

 

The CCG has not made any payments for compensation on early retirement or for loss of 
office. 

 

Fair pay (ratios) disclosure (this has been subjected to audit) 

 

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the 
highest-paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 
organisation’s workforce.    
    
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in Northumberland CCG in the 
financial year 2015/16 was £115-£120k (2014/15, £100-£105k).  
     
This was 2.8 times (2014/15, 2.6) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was 
£42,720 (2014/15, £40,118).  
      
In 2015/16, no employee (2014/15 no employee) received remuneration in excess of the 
highest paid director.  
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Remuneration for employees ranged from £15,100 to £100,000 (2014/15, £12,388 to 
£100,900). 
       
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and 
benefits-in-kind.   
      
It does not include severance payments, employer pension contributions and the cash 
equivalent transfer value of pensions.       
       
Table 5: Pay multiples (this has been subjected to audit)  
     

  2015/16 2014/15 

Band of Highest Paid Director’s Total Remuneration (£’000) 115-120 100-105 

Median Total Remuneration (£) 42,720 40,118 

Ratio 2.8 2.6 

 

Staff report 

 

The CCG has a staff headcount of 45 employees (including non-executives and chair) as 
at the 31 March 2016. This includes 11 Governing body members and 5 other senior 
managers.   
 

Below is the gender split for the above headcount:  

 

Table 6: Northumberland CCG staff gender profile at 31 March 2016             

 

 Male Female 

Governing body  7 4 

Senior managers 2 3 

Other CCG employees 8 21 

Total CCG employees 17 28 

 

Sickness absence 

 
The CCG report staff sickness absence data in the financial statements.  A table is 
included in the employee benefits note to the financial statements and shown in note 4.3 of 
the accounts.  
 

Staff Policies 

 

The CCG has a suite of staff policies in place. The CCG has taken steps throughout 

2015/16 to maintain and develop the provision of information to, and consultation with 

employees, including: 

 Providing employees with information on matters of concern to them as employees 
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 Consulting employees and their representatives on a regular basis so that the views 
of employees can be taken into account in making decisions which are likely to 
affect their interests 

 Encouraging the involvement of employees in the CCG’s performance  

 Taking actions throughout the year to achieve a common awareness on the part of 
all employees of the financial and economic factors affecting the performance of the 
CCG 

 Membership of the North East Partnership Forum, where staff representatives and 
CCG managers from across the region meet together 
 

The CCG has a positive attitude to recruitment, employment, training and development of 
disabled persons. The CCG has successfully renewed its accreditation as a Two Tick 
Disability employer for 2016. The symbol, awarded by Jobcentre Plus, demonstrates our 
commitment to employ, retain and develop the abilities of disabled staff.  
 

Consultancy Expenditure 

 
The CCG incurred consultancy expenditure of £62k during 2015/16. 
 

Very Senior Manager Remuneration 

 

The Secretary of State wrote on 2 June 2015 to chairs of Clinical Commissioning Groups 
about the pay of Very Senior Managers (VSMs). Where one or more senior managers of a 
CCG are paid more than a pro rata of £142,500 per annum, equivalent to the Prime 
Minister’s salary, information is disclosed in the remuneration report. Northumberland 
CCG has one senior manager who is paid more than a pro rata of £142,500 per annum.  
 

Off payroll engagements 

 
As of 31 March, the CCG off payroll engagements, for more than £220 per day and that 
have lasted longer than six months are as follows: 
 

Table 7: Off payroll engagements as of 31 March 2016, for more than £220 per day 

and that last longer than six months 

 

 Number 

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2016 17 

Of which, the number that have existed:  

for less than one year at the time of reporting 0 

for between one and two years at the time of reporting 6 

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting 11 

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting 0 

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting 0 

 

All existing off-payroll engagements have at some point been subject to a risk based-
assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is paying the right 
amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought. 
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For all new off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016, for more 
than £220 per day and that last longer than six months: 
 

Table 8: New off payroll engagements between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016, for 

more than £220 per day and that last longer than six months 

 

 Number 

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, 
between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016 

0 

Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses giving 
Northumberland CCG the right to request assurance in relation to income tax 
and National Insurance obligations 

0 

Number for whom assurance has been requested 0 

Of which:  

assurance has been received 0 

assurance has not been received 0 

engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being received 0 

 

Table 9: Off payroll engagements of Joint Locality Executive Board members and 

senior managers between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016 

 

 Number 

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officers 
with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year  

1 
 

The total number of individuals both on and off-payroll that have been deemed 
“board members and/or senior officials with significant financial responsibility”, 
during the financial year. This total figure must include engagements which are 
on payroll as well as those off-payroll. 

10 

 

The off-payroll engagement in the financial year remained off payroll as at 31 March 2016 
  
There were no new off-payroll engagements in the financial year. 

 

Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments 
 
The CCG have not made any payments for exit packages, including special (non-
contractual) payments during 2015/16. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of NHS Northumberland 

Clinical Commissioning Group 

 
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Northumberland Clinical Commissioning 
Group for the year ended 31 March 2016 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014. The financial statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ 
Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and as 
interpreted and adapted by the 2015-16 Government Financial Reporting Manual (the 
2015-16 FReM) as contained in the Department of Health Group Manual for Accounts 
2015-16 (the 2015-16 MfA) and the Accounts Direction issued by the NHS Commissioning 
Board with the approval of the Secretary of State as relevant to the National Health 
Service in England (the Accounts Direction). 
 
We have also audited the information in the Remuneration and Staff Report that is 
described as being subject to audit. 
 
This report is made solely to the Members of the NHS Northumberland Clinical 
Commissioning Group, as a body, in accordance with part 5 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of 
Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Members of the CCG those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report 
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Members of the CCG, as a body, for our 
audit work, for this report or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and auditor 
 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the 
Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for 
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and is also responsible for ensuring the 
regularity of expenditure and income. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion 
on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards 
on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. We are also responsible for giving an 
opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in accordance with the Code of Audit 
Practice prepared by the Comptroller and Auditor General as required by the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014 (the "Code of Audit Practice"). 
 
As explained in the Annual Governance Statement the Accountable officer is responsible 
for the arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the 
CCG's resources. We are required under Section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. Section 21(5)(b) of 
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires that our report must not contain our 
opinion if we are satisfied that proper arrangements are in place. 
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We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the 
CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources are operating effectively. 
  
Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes assessing:  
 

 Whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG’s circumstances and have 
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed  

 The reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Accountable 
Officer; and  

 The overall presentation of the financial statements  

 
In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report to 
identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any 
information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, 
the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of 
any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for 
our report. 
 
In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that 
the expenditure and income reported in the financial statements have been applied to the 
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities 
which govern them. 
 
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources 
 
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having 
regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor 
General in November 2015, as to whether the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it 
took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and 
sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor 
General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to consider under the Code of 
Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper arrangements 
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year 
ended 31 March 2016. 
 
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk 
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on 
whether, in all significant respects, the CCG had put in place proper arrangements to 
secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 
 
Opinion on the financial statements 
 
In our opinion the financial statements: 
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 Give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS Northumberland Clinical 
Commissioning Group as at 31 March 2016 and of its net expenditure and income for 
the year then ended; and 

 Gave been properly prepared in accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012 
and the Accounts Directions issued thereunder 

 
Opinion on regularity  
 
As disclosed in note 41 of its financial statements, the CCG failed to meet its statutory 
duties under: 
 

 Section 223H(1) of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) to ensure expenditure did not 
exceed income in 2015/16; and 

 Section 223I(3) of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) to ensure revenue resource used 
does not exceed the amount specified in the Direction 

 
Except for the incurrence of expenditure in excess of the specified targets, in our opinion, 
in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the financial statements 
have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions 
conform to the authorities which govern them. 
 
Opinion on other matters 
 
In our opinion: 
 

 The parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been properly 
prepared in accordance with the Annual Report Directions made under the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012); and 

 The other information published together with the audited financial statements in the 
annual report and accounts is consistent with the financial statements 

 
Matters on which we report by exception 
 
We are required to report to you if: 
 

 In our opinion the governance statement does not comply with the guidance issued by 
the NHS England; or 

 We issue a report in the public interest under section 24, schedule 7 of the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014; or 

 We make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24, schedule 7 of the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 

 
We have nothing to report in these respects. 
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Exception reports 
 
Referral the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 
 
We are required to report to you if we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 
30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that 
the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which 
involves or would involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or 
has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion , would be unlawful 
and likely to cause a loss or deficiency. 
 
On 8 April 2016, we issued a report to the Secretary of State for Health under section 30 of 
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, for the breach of financial duties under: 
 

 Section 223H(1) of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) to ensure expenditure did not 
exceed income in 2015/16; and 

 Section 223I(3) of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) to ensure revenue resource used 
does not exceed the amount specified in the Directions 

 
Conclusion on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources 
 
We are required to report to you if we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 
for the year ended 31 March 2016. 
 
Basis for qualified (except for) conclusion 
 
The CCG reported a deficit of £5 million in its financial statements for the year ending 31 
March 2016, thereby breaching its statutory duties under: 
 

 Section 223H(1) of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) to ensure expenditure did not 
exceed income in 2015/16; and 

 Section 223I(3) of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) to ensure revenue resource used 
does not exceed the amount specified in the Direction 

 
The CGG has not yet succeeded in in addressing the deficit in its budget and is 
forecasting a cumulative deficit of £5 million for 2016/17.  
 
This is evidence of issues in relation to proper arrangements for planning finances 
effectively to support the sustainable delivery of strategic priorities and maintain statutory 
functions. 
 
Qualified conclusion (except for) 
 
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller and 
Auditor General in November 2015, with the exception of the matters reported in the basis 
for qualified conclusion paragraphs above, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects, 
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NHS Northumberland CCG put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2016. 
 
Certificate 
 
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Northumberland 
Clinical Commissioning Group in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice. 
 
 
 
 
 
Cameron Waddell 
 
For and on behalf of Mazars LLP 
Rivergreen Centre 
Aykley Heads 
Durham 
DH1 5TS 
 
25 May 2016 
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended

31 March 2016

2015-16 2014-15

Note £000 £000

Total Income and Expenditure

Employee benefits 4.1.1 2,444 2,454

Operating Expenses 5 460,342 436,977

Other operating revenue 2 (62) (69)

Net operating expenditure before interest 462,724 439,362

Total Net Expenditure for the year 462,724 439,362

Of which:

Administration Income and Expenditure

Employee benefits 4.1.1 2,444 2,454

Operating Expenses 5 3,361 4,433

Other operating revenue 2 (59) (41)

Net administration costs before interest 5,746 6,846

Programme Income and Expenditure

Operating Expenses 5 456,981 432,544

Other operating revenue 2 (3) (28)

Net programme expenditure before interest 456,978 432,516

Other Comprehensive Net Expenditure 2015-16 2014-15

£000 £000

Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year 462,724 439,362

The notes on pages 9 to 13 form part of this statement.

1
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Statement of Financial Position as at

31 March 2016

2015-16 2014-15

Note £000 £000

Non-current assets:

Property, plant and equipment 13 1,836 2,016

Total non-current assets 1,836 2,016

Current assets:

Trade and other receivables 17 2,645 3,422

Cash and cash equivalents 20 51 57

Total current assets 2,696 3,479

Total assets 4,532 5,495

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 23 (17,844) (16,443)

Total current liabilities (17,844) (16,443)

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities (13,312) (10,948)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity

General fund (13,312) (10,948)

Total taxpayers' equity: (13,312) (10,948)

The notes on pages 16 to 20 form part of this statement.

Dr Alistair Blair

Chief Clinical Officer (Accountable Officer)

The financial statements on pages 1 to 4 were approved by the Audit Committee as designated authority by the Governing Body on 24 

May and signed on its behalf by:

2
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended

31 March 2016

General fund

Total 

reserves

£000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16

Balance at 1 April 2015 (10,948) (10,948)

Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed NHS bodies 0 0

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 1 April 2015 (10,948) (10,948)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16

Net operating expenditure for the financial year SOCNE (462,724) (462,724)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial  Year (462,724) (462,724)

Net funding SCF 460,360 460,360

Balance at 31 March 2016 (13,312) (13,312)

General fund

Total 

reserves

£000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15

Balance at 1 April 2014 (14,395) (14,395)

Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1 April 2013 transition 0 0

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 1 April 2014 (14,395) (14,395)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15

Net operating costs for the financial year SOCNE (439,362) (439,362)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial  Year (439,362) (439,362)

Net funding SCF 442,809 442,809

Balance at 31 March 2015 (10,948) (10,948)

The notes on pages 1 and 4 form part of this statement.

3



NHS Northumberland Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2015-16

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended

31 March 2016

2015-16 2014-15

Note £000 £000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net operating expenditure for the financial year SOCNE (462,724) (439,362)

Depreciation and amortisation 5 205 5.5

(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 17 777 (382)

Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 23 1,439 (1,116)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities (460,303) (440,854)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

(Payments) for property, plant and equipment (63) (1,968)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities (63) (1,968)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing (460,366) (442,822)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Grant in Aid Funding Received 460,360 442,809

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities 460,360 442,809

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 20 (6) (13)

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year 20 57 70

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year 51 57

The notes on pages 13 to 20 form part of this statement.
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Accounting Policies

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the 

Manual for Accounts  issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in 

accordance with the Manual for Accounts 2015-16  issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the 

Manual for Accounts  follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to 

clinical commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the 

Manual for Accounts  permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the 

particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The 

particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing 

with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1 Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis despite the issue of a report to the Secretary of State for Health under 

Section 30 of the Local  Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, 

as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.

Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the 

same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial 

Statements.  If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2 Accounting Convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and 

equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3 Pooled Budgets

Where the clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service 

Act 2006 the clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the 

activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.

Joint operations are arrangements where contractual agreements are in place under which the Clinical Commissioning Group and one 

or more other parties share control. Joint ventures have rights to assets and obligations in relation to liabilities. The Clinical 

Commissioning Group accounts only for its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the arrangement.

1.4 Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates 

and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may 

differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and 

future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

1.4.1 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the process 

of applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 

the financial statements:

·                Determining whether income and expenditure should be disclosed as either administrative or programme expenditure;

·                Determining whether a substantial transfer of risks and rewards has occurred in relation to leased assets; and,

·                Determining whether a provision or contingent liability should be recognised in respect of certain potential future                        

                 obligations, particularly in respect of continuing healthcare services.

1.4.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s 

accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The main estimate in 

2015/16 related to prescribing expenditure.

1.5 Revenue

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair 

value of the consideration receivable.

Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

5
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Notes to the financial statements

1.6 Employee Benefits

1.6.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, 

including bonuses earned but not yet taken.

The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that 

employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.6.2 Retirement Benefit Costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit 

scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in 

England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the 

underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to 

the clinical commissioning group of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the 

accounting period.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of 

the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the 

retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

Some employees are members of the Local Government Superannuation Scheme, which is a defined benefit pension scheme. The 

scheme assets and liabilities attributable to those employees can be identified and are recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s 

accounts. The assets are measured at fair value and the liabilities at the present value of the future obligations. The increase in the 

liability arising from pensionable service earned during the year is recognised within operating expenses. The expected gain during the 

year from scheme assets is recognised within finance income. The interest cost during the year arising from the unwinding of the 

discount on the scheme liabilities is recognised within finance costs. Actuarial gains and losses during the year are recognised in the 

General Reserve and reported as an item of other comprehensive net expenditure.

1.7 Other Expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured 

at the fair value of the consideration payable.

Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive 

obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.8 Property, Plant & Equipment

1.8.1 Recognition

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:

·                It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;

·                It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical 

               commissioning group;

·                It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;

·                The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,

·                The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,

·                Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the            

                assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have 

                simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or,

·                Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their 

                individual or collective cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components 

are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

1.8.2 Valuation

All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing 

the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 

management. All assets are measured subsequently at valuation.

Land and buildings used for the clinical commissioning group’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the statement of 

financial position at their re-valued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any impairment.

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that would 

be determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair values are determined as follows:

·                Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,

·                Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.

HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent assets and, 

where it would meet the location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be valued.
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Notes to the financial statements

Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost 

includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets 

held at fair value. Assets are re-valued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.

Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in 

existing use.

An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset 

previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. 

A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged 

to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment 

losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the 

1.8.3 Subsequent Expenditure

Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where 

subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of 

the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.

1.9 Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments

Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible 

non-current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic 

benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning 

group expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and 

may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the 

effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful 

lives.

At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible or 

intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of 

the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are 

tested for impairment annually.

A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged 

to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment 

losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently 

reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount 

that would have been determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to 

expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

1.10 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other 

leases are classified as operating leases.

1.10.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, 

at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are 

apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the 

remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised 

initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they 

are operating or finance leases.

1.11 Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash 

equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known 

amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that 

form an integral part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.
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Notes to the financial statements

1.12 Clinical Negligence Costs

The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution 

to the NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although 

the NHS Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the clinical 

commissioning group.

1.13 Non-clinical Risk Pooling

The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are 

risk pooling schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in 

return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect 

of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.14 Continuing healthcare risk pooling

In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 

2013. Under the scheme clinical commissioning group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the claims.

1.15 Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the 

case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual 

rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.

Financial assets are classified into the following categories:

·                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;

·                Held to maturity investments;

·                Available for sale financial assets; and,

·                Loans and receivables.

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

1.16 Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the 

contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. 

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair 

value.

1.16.1 Other Financial Liabilities

After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for loans 

from Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the 

effective interest method.

1.17 Value Added Tax

Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and 

input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the 

capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of        

VAT.

1.18 Losses & Special Payments

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or 

passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures 

compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are 

handled.

1.19 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted

The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2015-16, all 

of which are subject to consultation:

·                IFRS 9: Financial Instruments

·                IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts

·                IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2015-16, were they applied in that 

year.
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2 Other Operating Revenue

2015-16 2015-16 2015-16 2014-15 2014-15 2014-15

Total Admin Programme Total Admin Programme

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Charitable and other contributions  to revenue 

expenditure: non-NHS 39 39 0 21 21 0

Non-patient care services to other bodies 3 0 3 28 0 28

Other revenue 20 20 0 20 20 0

Total other operating revenue 62 59 3 69 41 28

Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.

3 Revenue

2015-16 2015-16 2015-16 2014-15 2014-15 2014-15

Total Admin Programme Total Admin Programme

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

From rendering of services 62 59 3 69 41 28

Total 62 59 3 69 41 28

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the CCG 

and credited to the General Fund.
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4 Employee benefits and staff numbers

4.1 Employee benefits Total Admin

Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 2,094 1,631 463 2,094 1,631 463

Social security costs 154 154 0 154 154 0

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 196 196 0 196 196 0

Gross employee benefits expenditure 2,444 1,981 463 2,444 1,981 463

Total Admin

Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 2,155 1,637 518 2,155 1,637 518

Social security costs 128 128 0 128 128 0

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 171 171 0 171 171 0

Gross employee benefits expenditure 2,454 1,936 518 2,454 1,936 518

The clinical commissioning group has had no staff that they classify as programme expenditure in the year ending 31 March 2016 and 31 

March 2015.

2015-16 2015-16

2014-15 2014-15
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4.2 Average number of people employed

2015-16 2015-16 2015-16 2014-15 2014-15 2014-15

Total

Permanently 

employed Other Total

Permanently 

employed Other

Number Number Number Number Number Number

Total 33.8                    29.5                4.3                32.6                28.1               4.5             

The clinical commissioning group has had no whole time equvilent people engaged in capital projects in the year ending 31 March 2016. 

4.3  Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements

2015-16 2014-15

Number Number

Total Days Lost 450 787

Total Staff Years 30 28

Average working Days Lost 15 28

The 2015/16 sickness figures are for the 12 month period from January 2015 to December 2015

The 2014/15 sickness figures are for the 12 month period from January 2014 to December 2014

2015-16 2014-15

Number Number

Number of persons retired early on ill health grounds 1 0

There was one ill health retirement for the year ending 31 March 2016, in the year ending 31 March 2015 there were none.
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4.5 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under 

these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.

The Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under 

the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The Scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable 

NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.

Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of 

participating in the Scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the Scheme for the accounting period.

The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, every five years) and an accounting valuation every 

year. An outline of these follows:

4.5.1 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the Scheme (taking into account 

its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates to be paid by employers and scheme members. The 

last such valuation, which determined current contribution rates was undertaken as at 31 March 2012 and covered the period from 

1 April 2008 to that date. Details can be found on the pension scheme website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. 

For 2015-16, employers’ contributions of £195,640 were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2014-15: £171,143) were payable 

to the NHS Pension Scheme at the rate of 14.3% of pensionable pay. The scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions,

usually every four years and now based on HMT Valuation Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest review used

data from 31st March 2012  and was published on the Government website on 9th June 2014. 

12



NHS Northumberland Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2015-16

5 Operating expenses

2015-16 2015-16 2015-16 2014-15 2014-15 2014-15

Total Admin Programme Total Admin Programme

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Gross employee benefits

Employee benefits excluding governing body members 1,974 1,974 0 2,038 2,038 0

Executive governing body members 470 470 0 416 416 0

Total gross employee benefits 2,444 2,444 0 2,454 2,454 0

Other costs

Services from other CCGs and NHS England 2,554 1,546 1,008 2,730 1,360 1,370

Services from foundation trusts 333,552 252 333,300 317,550 250 317,300

Services from other NHS trusts 1,236 0 1,236 1,033 0 1,033

Services from other NHS bodies 0 0 0 3 0 3

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 63,050 0 63,050 56,101 0 56,101

Chair and Non Executive Members 54 54 0 54 54 0

Supplies and services – clinical 1,720 0 1,720 1,818 0 1,818

Supplies and services – general 673 673 0 778 778 0

Consultancy services 62 62 0 54 54 0

Establishment 142 131 11 115 114 1

Transport 11 11 0 6 6 0

Premises 198 198 0 1,550 1,550 0

Depreciation 205 205 0 5.5 5.5 0

Audit fees 81 81 0 108 108 0

Prescribing costs 54,374 0 54,374 53,178 0 53,178

Pharmaceutical services 70 0 70 0 0 0

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 977 0 977 1,126 0 1,126

Other professional fees excl. audit 141 141 0 143 143 0

Clinical negligence 7 7 0 7 7 0

Education and training 0 0 0 3 3 0

CHC Risk Pool contributions 1,235 0 1,235 614 0 614

Total other costs 460,342 3,361 456,981 436,977 4,433 432,544

Total operating expenses 462,786 5,805 456,981 439,431 6,887 432,544

Audit fees are shown inclusive of VAT.

Admin expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare or healthcare services. Admin expenditure 

has decreased between the years 2014-15 and 2015-16 mainly due to backdated premises costs incurred in 2014-15 that were not present in 

2015-16.

The clinical commissioning group received £9.5m of non recurrent Vanguard funding in 2015-16 that is included in the services from foundation 

trusts line above, and contributes to the large increase in that line bewteen 2014-15 and 2015-16.
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6 Better Payment Practice Code

2015-16 2015-16 2014-15 2014-15

Measure of compliance Number £000 Number £000

Non-NHS Payables

Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year 6,665 74,717 7,424 67,371

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 6,411 74,037 7,271 66,872

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 96.19% 99.09% 97.94% 99.26%

NHS Payables

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 2,014 334,265 2,262 321,822

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 1,997 333,628 2,188 317,863

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 99.16% 99.81% 96.73% 98.77%

7 Income Generation Activities

The clinical commissioning group does not undertake any income generation activities.

8 Investment revenue

The clinical commissioning group had no investment revenue for the year ending 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015.

9 Other gains and losses

The clinical commissioning group had no other gains and losses for the year ending 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015.

10 Finance costs

The clinical commissioning group had no finance costs for the year ending 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015.

11 Net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption

The clinical commissioning group had no net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption for the year ending 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015.

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid 

invoice, whichever is later.
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12 Operating Leases

12.1 As lessee

12.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense 2015-16 2015-16 2015-16 2014-15 2014-15 2014-15

Total Buildings Other Total Buildings Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Payments recognised as an expense

Minimum lease payments 202 188 14 359 339 20

Contingent rents 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sub-lease payments 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 202 188 14 359 339 20

12.1.2 Future minimum lease payments 2015-16 2015-16 2015-16 2014-15 2014-15 2014-15

Total Buildings Other Total Buildings Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Payable:

No later than one year 9 0 9 14 -          14              

Between one and five years 5 0 5 12 -          12              

After five years 0 0 0 0 -          -            

Total 14 0 14 26 0 26

Whilst our arrangements with Community Health Partnership's Limited and NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition of operating 

leases, rental charge for future years has not yet been agreed. Consequently this note does not include future minimum lease payments for 

the arrangements only.
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13 Property, plant and equipment

2015-16

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2015 1,999 22 6 2,027

Additions purchased 0 0 25 25

Cost/Valuation At 31 March 2016 1,999 22 31 2,052

Depreciation 01 April 2015 0 11 0 11

Charged during the year 198 5 2 205

Depreciation at 31 March 2016 198 16 2 216

Net Book Value at 31 March 2016 1,801 6 29 1,836

Purchased 1,801 6 29 1,836

Total at 31 March 2016 1,801 6 29 1,836

Asset financing:

Owned 1,801 6 29 1,836

Total at 31 March 2016 1,801 6 29 1,836

2014-15

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2014 0 22 0 22

Additions purchased 1,999 0 6 2,005

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2015 1,999 22 6 2,027

Depreciation 1 April 2014 0 5.5 0 5.5

Charged during the year 0 5.5 0 5.5

Depreciation at 31 March 2015 0 11 0 11

Net Book Value at 31 March 2015 1,999 11 6 2,016

Purchased 1,999 11 6 2,016

Total at 31 March 2015 1,999 11 6 2,016

Asset financing:

Owned 1,999 11 6 2,016

Total at 31 March 2015 1,999 11 6 2,016
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13 Property, plant and equipment cont'd

13.1 Economic lives

The range of remaining economic lives of non-current assets are:

Plant & machinery 6 8

Transport equipment 1 1

Information technology 1 4

14 Intangible non-current assets

The clinical commissioning group had no intangible assets for the year ending 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015.

15 Investment property

16 Inventories

The clinical commissioning group held no inventories for the year ending 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015.

The clinical commissioning group had no investment property and made no investment transactions for the year ending 31 March 2016 and 

31 March 2015.

Minimum 

Life (years)

Maximum 

Life (Years)
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17  Trade and other receivables Current Current

2015-16 2014-15

£000 £000

NHS receivables: Revenue 661 292

NHS prepayments 1,385 2,774

Non-NHS receivables: Revenue 323 123

Non-NHS prepayments 175 230

Non-NHS accrued income 95 0

VAT 6 3

Total Trade & other receivables 2,645 3,422

Total current and non current 2,645 3,422

Included above:

Prepaid pensions contributions 0 0

17.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired 2015-16 2014-15

£000 £000

By up to three months 61 31

By three to six months 13 16

By more than six months 0 16

Total 74 63

£30k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.

18 Other financial assets

19 Other current assets

All of the clinical commissioning groups receivables are due within 1 year, therefore the Clinical commissioning group has no non current assets 

in trade and other receivables for the year ending 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015.

The great majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by Government to provide funding to clinical commissioning groups 

to commission services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.

The clinical commissioning group had no other financial assets held outside the statement of financial position for the year ending 31 March 

2016 and 31 March 2015. This includes all other current, non-current and capital financial assets.

The clinical commissioning group had no other current assets held outside the statement of financial position for the year ending 31 March 2016 

and 31 March 2015.
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20 Cash and cash equivalents

2015-16 2014-15

£000 £000

Balance at 01 April 2015 57 70

Net change in year (6) (13)

Balance at 31 March 2016 51 57

Made up of:

Cash with the Government Banking Service 51 57

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position 51 57

Balance at 31 March 2016 51 57

There was no patients’ money held by the clinical commissioning group as at 31 March 2016.

21 Non-current assets held for sale

The clinical commissioning group had no non-current assets held for sale for the year ending 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015.

22 Analysis of impairments and reversals

The clinical commissioning group had no impairments or reversals for the year ending 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015.
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Current Current

2015-16 2014-15

£000 £000

NHS payables: revenue 5,700 1,026

NHS accruals 2,291 3,976

Non-NHS payables: revenue 611 1,414

Non-NHS payables: capital 0 38

Non-NHS accruals 9,155 9,905

Social security costs 20 18

Tax 27 21

Other payables 40 45

Total Trade & Other Payables 17,844 16,443

Total current and non-current 17,844 16,443

24 Other financial liabilities

The clinical commissioning group had no other financial liabilities for the year ending 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015.

25 Other liabilities

The clinical commissioning group had no other liabilities for the year ending 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015.

26 Borrowings

27 Private finance initiative, LIFT and other service concession arrangements

28 Finance lease obligations

The clinical commissioning group had no finance lease obligations for the year ending 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015.

29 Finance lease receivables

The clinical commissioning group had no finance lease receivables for the year ending 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015.

Other payables include £31k outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2016.

23 Trade and other payables

The clinical commissioning group had no borrowings for the year ending 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015, there are therefore no 

repayment due dates to report.

The clinical commissioning group had no PFI, LIFT or other service concession arrangements for the year ending 31 March 2016 and 31 

March 2015. This includes any payments on or off the statement of financial position and imputed finance leases.

The clinical commissioning group had no deferred income for the year ending 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015.

All of the clinical commissioning groups payables are due within 1 year, therefore the Clinical commissioning group has no non current 

liabilities in trade and other payables for the year ending 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015.
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30   Provisions

31 Contingencies

The clinical commissioning group had no contingencies for the year ending 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015.

32 Capital commitments

33 Financial instruments

33.1 Financial risk management

33.1.1 Currency risk

33.1.2 Interest rate risk

33.1.3 Credit risk

33.1.4 Liquidity risk

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted 

annually by Parliament. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS Clinical 

Commissioning Group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no provisions to report in their statement of financial position for the year ending 31 March 2016 and 31 

March 2015.

Although NHS England is responsible for the payment of liabilities relating to continuing healthcare cases relating to the period before 

establishment of the clinical commissioning group, the legal liability remains with the CCG. The total value of 'legacy' continuing healthcare 

provisions carried by NHS England as at the 31st March 2016 on behalf of the CCG is £2,715k (31st March 2015 £4,298k).

The clinical commissioning group have no capital commitments or other financial commitments for the year ending 31 March 2016 and 31 

March 2015.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the 

risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

Because NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by 

business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, 

to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and 

financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the clinical 

commissioning group in undertaking its activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS Clinical 

Commissioning Group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the NHS 

Clinical Commissioning Group and internal auditors.

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in 

the UK and sterling based. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group has no overseas operations. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and 

therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

The Clinical Commissioning Group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The 

borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the 

life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

Because the majority of the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS Clinical Commissioning Group 

has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the 

trade and other receivables note.
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33 Financial instruments cont'd

33.2 Financial assets

Loans and 

Receivables Total

2015-16 2015-16

£000 £000

Embedded derivatives 0 0

Receivables:

·          NHS 661 661

·          Non-NHS 418 418

Cash at bank and in hand 51 51

Other financial assets 0 0

Total at 31-March-2016 1,130 1,130

Loans and 

Receivables Total

2014-15 2014-15

£000 £000

Embedded derivatives 0 0

Receivables:

·          NHS 292 292

·          Non-NHS 123 123

Cash at bank and in hand 57 57

Other financial assets 0 0

Total at 31-March-2015 472 472

33.3 Financial liabilities

Other Total

2015-16 2015-16

£000 £000

Embedded derivatives 0 0

Payables:

·          NHS 7,992 7,992

·          Non-NHS 9,806 9,806

Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease obligations 0 0

Other borrowings 0 0

Other financial liabilities 0 0

Total at 31-March-2016 17,798 17,798

Other Total

2014-15 2014-15

£000 £000

Embedded derivatives 0 0

Payables:

·          NHS 5,002 5,002

·          Non-NHS 11,402 11,402

Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease obligations 0 0

Other borrowings 0 0

Other financial liabilities 0 0

Total at 31-March-2015 16,404 16,404

33.4 Maturity of financial liabilities

The clinical commissioning groups liabilities are all due to mature within one year.
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34 Operating segments

The clinical commissioning group and consolidated group consider they have only one segment: commissioning of healthcare services.

35 Pooled budgets

2015-16 2014-15

£000 £000

Income 0 0

Expenditure 18,217 0

35.1 Better care fund pool - Memorandum of account

POOLED FUND MEMORANDUM ACCOUNT for the period 1st April 2015-31st March 2016

Budget Budget YTD Actual YTD Variance

£`000 £`000 £`000 £`000

Gross Funding     
CCG 22,267.0 22,267.0 18,217.0 (4,050.0)

Northumberland  LA 2,256.0 2,256.0 2,256.0 0.0

NEL Risk Share 0.0 0.0 4,050.0 4,050.0

Total Funding (a) 24,523.0 24,523.0 24,523.0 0.0

Expenditure        
Northumbria FT Acute Non Pool B 4,829.0 4,829.0 4,829.0 0.0

Northumbria FT Community Non Pool B 2,600.0 2,600.0 2,600.0 0.0

CHC Non Pool B 800.0 800.0 800.0 0.0

GP`s Non Pool B 320.0 320.0 320.0 0.0

MH Pool C 2,696.0 2,696.0 2,696.0 0.0

Dementia Pool C 500.0 500.0 500.0 0.0

Admissions avoidance LA Pool C 6,473.0 6,473.0 6,473.0 0.0

Admissions avoidance NEL Pool C 4,049.0 4,049.0 4,049.0 0.0

Social Care capital Non Pool A 847.0 847.0 571.7 275.3

DFG Non Pool A 1,409.0 1,409.0 1,684.3 (275.3)

Total Expenditure (b) 24,523.0 24,523.0 24,523.0 0.0

Net underspend/overspend (a) – (b) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

36 NHS Lift investments

The clinical commissioning group had no NHS Lift investments for the year ending 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015.

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group shares of the income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget in the financial year were:

Under s75 of the 2006 NHS Act, the clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget agreement with Northumberland Council in 

relation to the better care fund. For accounting purposes management has assessed that joint control does not exist.
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37 Related party transactions

Payments to 

Related 

Party

Receipts 

from 

Related 

Party

Payments 

to Related 

Party

Receipts 

from 

Related 

Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

Director Related Organisations Director

WELLWAY MEDICAL GROUP Dr Alistair Blair 237 0 233 0

BURN BRAE MEDICAL GROUP Dr David Shovlin 86 0 173 0

FORUM FAMILY PRACTICE Dr Frances Naylor 62 0 70 0

PROJEECO LTD Dr Frances Naylor 3 0 0 0

WELL CLOSE SQUARE SURGERY Hilary Brown 145 0 161 0

BROCKWELL MEDICAL GROUP Dr John Warrington 180 0 269 0

THE BONDGATE SURGERY Dr Graham Syers 292 0 326 0

NORTH NORTHUMBERLAND IMATS Dr Graham Syers 118 0 0 0

GUIDEPOST MEDICAL GROUP Dr Eileen Higgins (left director post 30-6-15) 60 0 98 0

Non Director Related Practices

THE ROTHBURY PRACTICE 98 0 73 0

LINTONVILLE MEDICAL GROUP 139 0 133 0

BEDLINGTONSHIRE MEDICAL GROUP 105 0 84 0

PONTELAND MEDICAL GROUP 458 0 495 0

BELFORD MEDICAL PRACTICE 371 0 348 0

WATERLOO MEDICAL GROUP 172 0 177 0

WHITE MEDICAL GROUP 369 0 378 0

THE GABLES MEDICAL GROUP 193 0 186 0

MARINE MEDICAL GROUP 153 0 145 0

LABURNUM MEDICAL GROUP 11 0 15 0

PRUDHOE MEDICAL GROUP 70 0 72 0

CORBRIDGE HEALTH CENTRE 408 0 448 0

THE CONSULTING ROOMS 188 0 178 0

COQUET MEDICAL GROUP 174 0 128 0

CRAMLINGTON MEDICAL GROUP 53 0 39 0

BELLINGHAM MEDICAL GROUP 61 0 60 0

SEATON PARK MEDICAL GROUP 197 0 207 0

WIDDRINGTON SURGERY 115 0 101 0

VILLAGE MEDICAL GROUP 377 0 323 0

GREYSTOKE SURGERY 161 0 137 0

CHEVIOT MEDICAL GROUP 244 0 242 0

SELE MEDICAL PRACTICE 68 0 60 0

HALTWHISTLE MEDICAL GROUP 98 0 68 0

RIVERSDALE SURGERY 247 0 234 0

NETHERFIELD HOUSE SURGERY 50 0 73 0

GAS HOUSE LANE SURGERY 222 0 204 0

HUMSHAUGH & WARK MED GRP 412 0 438 0

SCOTS GAP MEDICAL GROUP 250 0 245 0

UNION BRAE & NORHAM PRAC 319 0 290 0

HAYDON & ALLEN VALLEYS MED PRAC 144 0 167 0

BRANCH END SURGERY 189 0 199 0

STATION MEDICAL GROUP 82 0 135 0

GLENDALE SURGERY 182 0 160 0

MIDDLE FARM SURGERY 200 0 198 0

HARBOTTLE SURGERY 72 0 135 0

ADDERLANE SURGERY 18 0 17 0

ELSDON AVENUE SURGERY 48 0 54 0

COLLINGWOOD MEDICAL GROUP 67 0 46 0

HADRIAN PRIMARY CARE ALLIANCE LTD 64 0 73 0

NORTHUMBERLAND GP CONSORTIUM 5 0 5 0

• Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 203,710 0 193,398 0

• Newcastle Upon Tyne NHS Foundation Trust 60,708 0 60,885 0

• Northumberland, Tyne & Wear NHS Trust 45,734 0 48,270 0

• Northumberland County Council 49,560 0 43,816 0

• North East Ambulance NHS Foundation Trust 15,574 0 14,650 0

• Gateshead NHS Foundation Trust 2,177 0 1,181 0

• NHS North of England CSU 2,659 0 2,513 0

The Clinical commissioning group also has other none material transactions with other NHS related parties that include:

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

2015-16 2014-15

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of material 

transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department.

• NHS England, NHS Litigation Authority, NHS North Tyneside CCG, NHS Darlington CCG, NHS North Durham CCG, NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-

On-Tees CCG, NHS South Tyneside CCG, NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG, NHS Sunderland CCG, NHS Durham dales, Easington and Sedgefield 

CCG, NHS South Tees CCG, NHS South Tyneside CCG
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38 Events after the end of the reporting period

39 Losses and special payments

39.1 Losses

There were no losses reported in the financial year 2015-16, and for the year 2014-15.

39.2 Special payments

There were no special payments made in the financial year 2015-16, and for the year 2014-15.

There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the clinical commissioning group 

or consolidated group.

25



NHS Northumberland Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2015-16

40 Third party assets

41 Financial performance targets

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group's have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006.

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group's performance against those duties was as follows:

2015-16 2015-16 2015-16

£'000 £'000 £'000

National Health 

Service Act 

Section

Duty Target Performance Total
Duty 

Achieved

223H(1) Expenditure not to exceed income 457,709 462,749 (5,040) No

223I(2)

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified 

in Directions 25 25 0 Yes

223I(3)

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount 

specified in Directions 457,684 462,724 (5,040) No

223J(1)

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not 

exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0 0 Yes

223J(2)

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not 

exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0 0 Yes

223J(3)

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the 

amount specified in Directions 7,941 5,746 2,195 Yes

2014-15 2014-15 2014-15

£'000 £'000 £'000

National Health 

Service Act 

Section

Duty Target Performance Total
Duty 

Achieved

223H(1) Expenditure not to exceed income 441,671 441,367 304 Yes

223I(2)

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified 

in Directions 2,005 2,005 0 Yes

223I(3)

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount 

specified in Directions 439,666 439,362 304 Yes

223J(1)

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not 

exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0 0 Yes

223J(2)

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not 

exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0 0 Yes

223J(3)

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the 

amount specified in Directions 9,124 6,846 2,278 Yes

42 Impact of IFRS

This note is not applicable to NHS Northumberland Clinical Commissioning Group's accounts.

43 Analysis of charitable reserves

CCG resource is split between Capital resource [223I(2)] and Revenue resource [223I(3)], Capital resource must be used for capital 

expenditure only and must not exceed the capital resource allocation, any underspend against capital resources cannot be used within the 

revenue resource reported position.

Revenue resource is allocated separately for programme and administrative costs [223J(3)]. Expenditure against these allocations is monitored 

separately. Clinical Commissioning Groups are asked to ensure that plans are in place to ensure administrative costs are not overspent. 

Underspends on administrative costs may be used to offset overspends within programme allocations.

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no charitable reserves for the year ending 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015.

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no third party assets off their statement of financial position for the year ending 31 March 2016 and 31 

March 2015.
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